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He kupu nā te Toihau
A Word from the Chair

Kei ngā hoe whakatere i te waka whakarauora i tō 
tātou reo rangatira, tēnei a ngākau whakaute e 
karamihi atu nei i te tino mīharo o ngā mahi autaia 
kua puta i a tātou i tēnei tau. Kua kauria ngā ngaru 
pukepuke o noho taratahi, o whakamohoao heoi 
anō rā kei te rere tonu te waka, he waka eke noa!

E tika ana kia huri te aro ki ō tātou taonga matahīapo kua haoa e te 
kupenga nui a Taramainuku. Matariki ahunga nui, Pōhutukawa kaokao 
tāngata e huna e, e huna e, rātou te hunga mātai pō ki a rātou, tātou te rito 
whakakīnga whāruarua ki a tātou.

Over the past year we have been transforming Te Whare o Te Reo 
Mauriora | The House of Language Revitalisation into a virtual whare that 
can house an entire nation, whether we are in lockdown or not. A whare 
that embodies an active partnership between Māori New Zealanders 
and the Crown to bring to life te reo Māori, our nation’s endangered, 
indigenous language. While we need the support of all New Zealanders 
to revitalise our language: the foundations of our whare were laid by 
generations of Māori people and its future will be decided and guided by 
their descendants.

As the lead agency for the Maihi Karauna side of our whare we help guide 
the state sector to normalise te reo across their work by goal setting and 
transformation. We are focused upon encouraging all New Zealanders 
to value and help safeguard te reo Māori. We work closely with our 
colleagues from Te Mātāwai who support kāinga, hapori and iwi to fulfil 
their own reo Māori goals. Kia Ūkaipō anō te Reo is the vision to restore 
te reo as a nurturing first language for our tamariki and mokopuna Māori.

We need 1 million fluent speakers by 
2040 to protect our language and 
we have always been focused upon 
influencing those stakeholders who 
can make this happen.
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Created in the midst of lockdown, our virtual Te Wā Tuku Reo Māori 
invited New Zealanders to mark the moment the 1972 Māori Language 
Petition was presented to Parliament by celebrating te reo in some 
way. We were amazed when more than 1 million people signed up.

While we have reached incredible milestones over the past 50 years, 
te reo Māori remains an endangered language. Its survival depends 
on what we do now and the years to come. It takes one generation 
to lose a language and three generations to restore it: the clock is 
ticking. We need 1 million fluent speakers by 2040 to protect our 
language and we have always been focused upon influencing those 
stakeholders who can make this happen. We have helped change 
the attitudes of a nation in a generation and we look forward to the 
system change that next generation will grow up in.

Professor Rawinia Higgins

Chair/Toihau
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He kōrero nā te 
Tumu Whakahaere
From the Chief Executive

E ōku rangatira, tēnā koutou katoa.

Kei aku rangatira, tēnā koutou katoa

Agility, perseverance and clarity are three qualities 
required to sustain us in our current situation. 
A year disrupted by COVID-19 has demanded we 
draw on one of these qualities at times and all 
three at once at others. Challenges brought about 
by COVID-19, loss of key staff and a pay freeze in 
the public sector have meant that we have had to 
delve deep to ensure we delivered on promises to 
our key stakeholders. My perspective is that those 
challenges have brought the best out in all of us.

I am often credited with the good work of my colleagues, however I am 
absolutely unequivocal in my belief that my work colleagues deserve 
the praise. My role is to establish and maintain a framework in which 
they can strut their stuff – this report documents just how well they 
have strutted despite the many challenges put in front of them and 
how, in many instances, they went much further than what was asked 
of them. The list includes:

 › More than 1 million people registered and joined our inaugural Māori 
Language Moment at 12p.m. on 14 September 2020 – the largest 
single celebration of te reo Māori ever

 › Forty-nine candidates passed the Toi Reo Māori translator’s 
examination

 › We received the highest audit grades in two of three areas and the 
second highest in the other 

 › We developed Te Ara Poutama, an innovative predictive modelling 
tool, that will provide us with solid guidance on where we need to 
invest in the future to achieve the best outcomes for te reo

 › The Maihi Karauna secretariat continues to develop the proposal 
for a te reo Māori pilot for the state sector including guiding the 
translation of public sector position titles
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 › Thirty central agencies provided language plans before the 
30 June deadline and two others are continuing to work with us

 › Our digital platforms continue to engage more New Zealanders 
than ever before, and

 › Our annual polling carried out by Colmar Brunton shows that 
84 percent of New Zealanders already regard te reo as an 
important component of our national identity.

I can’t tell you how proud I am of what our team has accomplished 
this year – e ōku hoa mahi, kāore e mutu te mihi me te aroha i te 
ātaahua o ā koutou mahi i te tau kua taha ake nei. 

I also need to thank our Toihau and Board for providing the support 
that we, as kaimahi, require to successfully deliver the required 
outcomes. There is no greater motivation to succeed when you have 
the support, confidence and leadership of your Board.

Kia tau ngā manaakitanga ki a koutou katoa – kia kaha te reo Māori!

Ngahiwi Apanui 
Chief Executive 

Otirā ki a tātou katoa 
e ngākau nui ana ki 
te reo Māori, ka mihi 
te ngākau. Ki te kore 
koutou e tautoko 
mai i te reo Māori 
e kore te reo e ora. 
Ko koutou te hunga e 
tokomaha haere ana 
e tutuki ai te kōrero, 
‘Kia māhorahora 
te reo Māori.’
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Te Wawata Mātāmua 
Our Vision

haruru a
Aotearoa

taketake

Kia

i tō
tātou reo

whānui
All New Zealand will 

resonate with our 
indigenous language

(A Māori-speaking nation)
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Kaupapa Mātāmua 
Mission

Ngā Hua 
Results

Give effect to the 
status of the Māori 

language as an 
official language

An environment is 
established in which 

iwi and Māori can 
best succeed through 

Te Maihi Māori.

Lead coordination of 
the implementation 
of Te Maihi Karauna

All New Zealanders 
value the Māori 

language as a part of 
who we are and what 

makes us a nation, 
and it is a language 

for everyone to enjoy 
and celebrate.

Promote te reo Māori 
as an ordinary means 

of communication and 
a living language

State sector, 
private sector and 
wider community 

organisations 
are enabled to 

help to revitalise 
te reo Māori.

1 2 3
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1,000,000
More than 1 million people joined our 
virtual Māori Language Moment / 
Te Wā Tuku Reo Māori 

Ngā Mea Hirahira o te Tau 2020–21 
Highlights of 2020–21

30 public service departments 
are now planning, monitoring 

and evaluating the way they are 
helping to revitalise te reo Māori

66 81% 244,000

The innovative predictive tool 
Te Ara Poutama mō te Reo Māori 
was developed with Te Mātāwai 

and the Ministry of Education

Thousands engaged with 
our new Waitangi and 

Matariki campaigns

66 candidates registered for 
Toi Reo Māori wānanga for 
translators and interpreters

81% more translators 
and interpreters 

Our 3 kauhau targeting rangatahi 
Māori, Rarangatahi 2021 reached 

more than 244,000 people
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1,000,000
In August, our Māori Language Moment won a record eight Golds at 
the prestigious Golden World Awards for PR, the annual global awards 
organised by the UN affiliated, International Public Relations Association. 
Along with our digital strategists, For Purpose, the moment also won top 
honours at the Reed Campaign Awards in Washington DC and the Polaris 
Awards in London. The moment also won a silver award at New Zealand’s 
PRINZ Award in the Marketing Communications Campaign category. 

In February Māori Language Commissioner Professor Rawinia Higgins was 
elected to the UN Global Taskforce for a Decade of Indigenous Languages 
2022–2032. Her election was supported by Te Mātāwai, the Ministry for 
Pacific Peoples and the NZ National Commission for UNESCO.

Awards

International

136 233,000 25

200

136 people sat our Level 
Finder Exams in nine sittings

Our online resources were 
viewed and uploaded 

233,000 times

25 national and regional 
reo Māori events took place

We supported the Iwi 
Communications and All-of-

Government response to COVID-19 

Continued our partnership with 
APRA and CNZ supporting 

the Oro Music Strategy

200 new words developed
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Vote information

Te Taura Whiri i te Reo Māori is funded from Vote: Māori 
Development under the following output class:

 › Whakarauora Reo mō te Motu (National Māori Language 
Revitalisation) 

 − supporting the revitalisation of the Māori language at a 
national level; and the administration of Te Taura Whiri 
i te Reo Māori.

This appropriation is intended to achieve the effective 
promotion, protection and revitalisation of the Māori language 
through:

 › the ongoing operation of Te Taura Whiri i te Reo Māori

 › the delivery of a research programme supporting Māori 
language revitalisation

 › Te Maihi Karauna (Crown Te Reo Māori strategy)

 › other statutory functions that Te Taura Whiri i te Reo Māori 
is required to perform.

Te Taiao Rangatiratanga
Authorising Environment

Te Maihi Karauna

MAIHI  KARAUNA

TE WHARE O TE REO MAURI  ORA

MAIHI  MĀORI 
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Kia māhorahora 
te reo Māori

Everywhere, Every Way, Everyone, Every Day
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Te arorau wawaotanga 
Intervention logic 
2020–2024

Te Anga Putanga
Outcomes Framework

The performance measures for these outcomes are specified 
first in our Statement of Intent 2020–2024, pages 16–23, and in 
our Statement of Performance Expectations 2020–21, pages 12-
19. The high-level objectives are arranged in the following table.
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Te reo Māori 
is a living 
language

New Zealanders 
have the ability and 
confidence to talk 

about at least basic 
things in te reo Māori

Māori aged 15 and 
over use te reo Māori 

as much as English

New Zealanders 
value te reo Māori 

as a key element of 
national identity

O
U

TC
O

M
ES

OUTC
O

M
E

S

Increased visibility and 
use of te reo Māori by 

the public service

Increased use of 
te reo Māori by 

New Zealanders

Improved planning and 
support for the learning 
and use of te reo Māori 

Improved 
consistency and 

quality of te reo Māori 

Te Taura Whiri i te Reo Māori is well known and respected by 
New Zealanders as the Government’s source of expert advice and 

resources to assist with the revitalisation of te reo Māori

Strengthening the Maihi 
Karauna to support Te Whare 
o Te Reo Mauri Ora

 › Enabling informed language 
planning and impact 
measurement

 › Creating connections/ 
opportunities to share 
learnings

 › Promoting contributions

 › Monitoring and evaluation

Building the number of 
New Zealanders who value 
te reo Māori to encourage its 
learning and use as an integral 
part of our national identity

 › Leading key events 

 › Promoting private sector 
and community efforts

Creating and promoting 
resources to support 
planning for and the learning 
and use of te reo Māori

 › Creating and promoting 
language planning and 
acquisition resources

 › Supporting te reo Māori 
corpus

 › Commissioning research

Ensuring the quality of 
te reo Māori is maintained

 › Registering translators 
and interpreters

 › Providing training 
for translators and 
interpreters

 › Delivering an online te reo 
Māori proficiency test

Robust systems, processes and infrastructure

Commitment, innovation and motivation to help others Influence and impact through collaborative relationships

Quality assurance Strong networks and relationships Effective communicationsTimely delivery of advice and support

OUTPUTS

IMPACTS

INPUTS

Based on the Maihi Karauna Goals
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To strengthen our 
relationships with 
Te Mātāwai, public 
service departments/
departmental agencies 
and with wider state 
sector organisations 
so we can share 
learnings and identify 
opportunities to 
collaborate

Generating new resources, 
maintaining existing 
resources and providing 
better access to support 
the learning, use and 
quality of te reo Māori

Strengthening the Maihi Karauna to 
support Te Whare o Te Reo Mauriora

Creating and promoting resources to support planning 
for, and the learning and use of, te reo Māori 

01

03

HIGH-LEVEL OBJECTIVE

HIGH-LEVEL OBJECTIVE

OBJECTIVES

OBJECTIVES

PROGRESS

PROGRESS

FOCUS AREAS

FOCUS AREAS

Providing tools and advice to state 
sector organisations to support their 
development of language plans and 
associated impact measures

Working with Maihi Karauna priority 
convening agencies to support their 
efforts to facilitate coordinated action 
within their sectors

Creating connections and opportunities 
to share learnings between agencies, 
and with Te Mātāwai, and promoting 
contributions to language revitalisation 

Monitoring, and reporting annually 
on the ways the Maihi Karauna 
contributes to the revitalisation of 
te reo Māori and evaluating aspects 
of the implementation of the Crown’s 
language revitalisation strategy.

Creating an Online Language Planning 
Resource Centre that is easily accessible 
and contains tools and resources, or 
links to these (if provided by others, with 
their agreement), that support language 
planning, learning and use 

Developing new quality-assured words 
and terms (and associated standards) 
to ensure consistency of use among all 
New Zealanders

Strengthening our relationship with 
Te Mātāwai to jointly identify, develop 
and promote resources to meet the 
needs of multiple audiences.

Te Taura Whiri i te Reo Māori looks for 
opportunities to collaborate and strengthen 
relationships with Te Mātāwai, public service 
departments and the wider state sector 
organisations by:

 › convening three Te Papa Kōrero hui (CE Forum 
of Maihi Karauna lead agencies). Together the 
agencies identify opportunities to advance 
collaborative initiatives and provide advice to 
Te Rūnanga Reo

 › convening five Te Toko Matua hui 
(Senior Officials Group of lead agencies)

 › expanding the membership of Te Papa Kōrero with 
the inclusion of Statistics NZ and Te Kawa Mataaho

 › collaborating with Te Arawhiti, Te Puni Kōkiri and 
Te Kawa Mataaho to produce the te reo Māori 
section of Te Taunaki (the Public Service Census)

 › producing the Maihi Karauna Implementation 
Plan Status Report 2020–21.

Te Taura Whiri i te Reo Māori continues to 
create and promote resources to support the 
revitalisation of te reo Māori, including:

 › engaging our Public Service agencies in 
a service design approach for the Online 
Language Planning Resource Centre

 › developing 200 new words and terms 
including terms to support the Public 
Service, in particular, Minister, Sector 
Secretary and Chief Executive titles.

Te Whakatairite ki te Tauaki Whakamaunga Atu
Reporting against the Statement of Intent

Annual Report  2020–2021Te Taura Whiri i te Reo Māori14



Using the most effective 
approaches and 
channels to provide 
clear information on the 
value of te reo Māori, to 
improve New Zealanders’ 
understanding and 
appreciation of the 
language and enable them 
to make informed choices 
about learning and using 
te reo Māori

Promoting the retention 
of Māori values in the 
Māori language

Building the number of New Zealanders who value 
te reo Māori to encourage its learning and use as 
an integral part of our national identity

Ensuring the quality of te reo Māori 
is maintained

02

04

HIGH-LEVEL OBJECTIVE

HIGH-LEVEL OBJECTIVE

OBJECTIVES

OBJECTIVES

PROGRESS

PROGRESS

FOCUS AREAS

FOCUS AREAS

Enhancing our digital platforms to make the 
most of our extensive reach and following 
across social and traditional media 

Building a network of champions in 
the state and private sectors and other 
communities to raise awareness of the 
value of te reo Māori and encourage its use

Working with Te Mātāwai to explore 
opportunities to profile and promote 
the various ways te reo Māori is 
revitalised through the Maihi Māori 
and the Maihi Karauna.

The provision of quality supports 
(translators and interpreters), resources, 
tools and the corpus

2020–21 was a year of disruption for Te Taura Whiri 
i te Reo Māori and wider New Zealand, and created 
new opportunities which we capitalised on by:

 › reinventing our approach to Te Wiki o te Reo 
Māori and creating a world-leading digital 
campaign that reached more than 1 million 
New Zealanders

 › supporting 32 Public Service agencies to 
complete language plans

 › strengthening networks by holding workshops 
with 24 Public Service agencies

 › forging a partnership with Te Mātāwai to 
reinvent Ngā Tohu Reo Māori as a reflection of 
that partnership to be known going forward as 
Ngā Tohu o Te Whare o te Reo Mauriora.

In 2020–21: 

 › Sixty-six participated in Toi Reo Māori 
(the translator/interpreter course) run by 
Te Taura Whiri I te Reo Māori

 › Forty-nine candidates passed 
the Toi Reo Māori translators and 
interpreters examination

 › One hundred and thirty-six candidates 
participated in the Level Finder 
Examination process

 › There were seventy active translators and 
interpreters on the Toi Reo Māori register.
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Our Statement of Performance Expectations 
(SPE) specifies objectives, measures and 
outputs to be achieved for a given year. 
The 2020–21 financial year is the first 
year towards achieving the goals of our 
Statement of Intent 2020–2024. 

We share responsibility for the achievement of these outcomes 
with our partner agencies from across the public sector, including 
our Maihi Karauna partners: Te Puni Kōkiri, Te Māngai Pāho, Māori 
Television, the Ministry of Education, the Ministry for Culture 
and Heritage and the Department of Internal Affairs. We also 
partner with Māori and iwi represented by Te Mātāwai, Māori 
organisations, broadcasters and Māori education providers.

‘You at that handle and I at this handle of the basket.’

‘Ko koe ki tēnā, ko au 
ki tēnei kīwai o te kete.’

Te Tauākī Koronga mō ngā Mahi kia Tutuki 
Statement of Performance Expectations

E.34

HE ARA WHĀIA, 
HE ARA HOU

STATEMENT 
OF PERFORMANCE 
EXPECTATIONS

2020–2021

TE TAURA 
WHIRI I TE 
REO MĀORI
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Ngā Pūngao Puta
Reporting against the Statement 
of Performance Expectations

MEASURES PAST TRENDS 2020–21 PERFORMANCE

2017–18
ACTUAL

2018–19
ACTUAL

2019–20 
ACTUAL*

MEASURES ACTUAL VARIANCE LINK TO OUTCOMES FRAMEWORK

Provide tools and advice to state sector organisations 
to support their development of language plans and 
associated impact measures (enabling structured 
approaches to te reo Māori revitalisation)

New measure in 
2019–20

13%

1.1) 100% of the 351 public service departments/
departmental agencies that develop a 
language plan.

91% -9% Increase visibility and use of te reo Māori 
by the public service.

12 11 15
1.1a)2 Establishment of language planning approach 

under Maihi Karauna and implementation of 
plans in 8–12 agencies.

23 11 Increase visibility and use of te reo Māori 
by the public service.

New measure in 
2020–21

1.2) Number of (approximately 200) state 
sector agencies that attend/view language 
planning workshops.

24 Nil Improved planning and support for the 
learning and use of te reo Māori.

New measure in 
2019–20

40%

1.3) 100% of lead agencies3 with language plans. 100% Nil Increase visibility and use of te reo Māori 
by the public service.

New measure in 
2020–21

1.4) Increased percentage of joint agency 
language revitalisation projects.

67% Nil Improved planning and support for the 
learning and use of te reo Māori.

New measure in 
2020–21

1.5) Percentage of agencies reporting that 
Te Taura Whiri i te Reo Māori provided helpful 
tools and advice to support completion of 
their language plan.

100%4 Nil Improved planning and support for the 
learning and use of te reo Māori.

New measure in 
2020–21

1.6) Percentage of agencies that measure and 
report Right-shifts5 (Zero to Passive and 
Passive to Active) as a result of te reo 
Māori revitalisation activities6.

Not 
measured

NA Improved planning and support for the 
learning and use of te reo Māori.

Strengthening the Maihi Karauna to 
support Te Whare o Te Reo Mauriora01 HIGH-LEVEL OBJECTIVE

* New measures in 2020–21 had no target measure and the 
actual achieved will form the baseline for 2021–22.
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Supporting and sustaining 
the partnership between 
Māori and the Crown to 
revitalise the Māori language  

MEASURES PAST TRENDS 2020–21 PERFORMANCE

2017–18
ACTUAL

2018–19
ACTUAL

2019–20 
ACTUAL*

MEASURES ACTUAL VARIANCE LINK TO OUTCOMES FRAMEWORK

Provide tools and advice to state sector organisations 
to support their development of language plans and 
associated impact measures (enabling structured 
approaches to te reo Māori revitalisation)

New measure in 
2019–20

13%

1.1) 100% of the 351 public service departments/
departmental agencies that develop a 
language plan.

91% -9% Increase visibility and use of te reo Māori 
by the public service.

12 11 15
1.1a)2 Establishment of language planning approach 

under Maihi Karauna and implementation of 
plans in 8–12 agencies.

23 11 Increase visibility and use of te reo Māori 
by the public service.

New measure in 
2020–21

1.2) Number of (approximately 200) state 
sector agencies that attend/view language 
planning workshops.

24 Nil Improved planning and support for the 
learning and use of te reo Māori.

New measure in 
2019–20

40%

1.3) 100% of lead agencies3 with language plans. 100% Nil Increase visibility and use of te reo Māori 
by the public service.

New measure in 
2020–21

1.4) Increased percentage of joint agency 
language revitalisation projects.

67% Nil Improved planning and support for the 
learning and use of te reo Māori.

New measure in 
2020–21

1.5) Percentage of agencies reporting that 
Te Taura Whiri i te Reo Māori provided helpful 
tools and advice to support completion of 
their language plan.

100%4 Nil Improved planning and support for the 
learning and use of te reo Māori.

New measure in 
2020–21

1.6) Percentage of agencies that measure and 
report Right-shifts5 (Zero to Passive and 
Passive to Active) as a result of te reo 
Māori revitalisation activities6.

Not 
measured

NA Improved planning and support for the 
learning and use of te reo Māori.

In 2020–21 we did this by: 
leading the coordination of the 
implementation of Te Maihi 
Karauna to achieve the Crown’s 
revitalisation goals.

1. Interdepartmental Agencies such as National Emergency Management Agency, Cancer Control Agency, and Government Communications 
Security Bureau/NZ Security Intelligence Service are counted as one organisation. The total count is 29 out of 32.

2. This measure is from Vote: Māori Development

3. Lead agencies are: Department of Internal Affairs, Ministry for Culture and Heritage, Ministry of Education, Māori Television, Te Māngai Pāho, 
Te Puni Kōkiri, Te Taura Whiri i te Reo Māori.

4. 15 entities surveyed and 9 entities responded.

5. Te Taura Whiri i te Reo Māori are still testing and developing all Right-shifts related reporting and will report against this measure in 2021–22.

6. All Crown Departments are required to report on te reo Māori activities for the 2020–21 year. This report will be compiled in 2021–22.
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Provide tools and advice to 
state sector organisations to 
support their development of 
language plans and associated 
impact measures (enabling 
structured approaches to te 
reo Māori revitalisation)

Report annually on the nature 
and range of contributions to the 
Maihi Karauna strategy planned 
by responsible departments/
departmental agencies.

He Take Wānanga
Case Studies 

What we said 
we would do 
in 2020–21

01

In approving the Final Maihi Karauna Strategy and Implementation 
Approach in late 2018, Cabinet [MCR-18-MIN-0012] agreed that all 
departments of the public service be required to:

 › develop a te reo Māori language plan by 30 June 2021 (to ensure that 
each agency is working to increase its own capability in te reo Māori, 
and is proactively contributing to the implementation of the Maihi 
Karauna); and

 › reflect these (te reo Māori language plans) in their accountability 
documents, including Annual Reports and Strategic Intentions.

Cabinet also noted (as had been effected through Te Ture mō te Reo Māori 
2016) that Te Taura Whiri i te Reo Māori will:

 › coordinate and monitor the implementation of the Maihi Karauna; and

 › support Māori language planning.

Te Taura Whiri i te Reo Māori provided advice to assist twenty-seven 
departments in 2020–21 to complete their plans by 30 June 2021. A further 
two agencies are expected to complete their plans in 2021–22 to complete 
100 percent of public service departments that have language plans.

Language Planning 
supports the goals 
of the Crown’s Māori 
Language Strategy:

One hundred and fifty-thousand 
Māori aged 15 and over will use 
te reo Māori as much as English

One million New Zealanders can 
speak at least basic te reo Māori.

85%

1,000,000

150,000

Eighty-five percent of New Zealanders 
(or more) will value te reo Māori as a 
key part of national identity
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Two of the projects that we have been working on this financial year are 
the Online Language Planning Resource Centre (OLPRC) and a booklet, 
Te Reo mō te Tari – Reo Māori for the Office. Each resource has been 
designed to support individuals and organisations across Aotearoa.

Online Language Planning Resource Centre (OLPRC):

One of the challenges facing our Language Planning team has been their 
limited capacity to support all state sector agencies to create language 
plans. An online resource, the OLPRC will enable a greater reach and 
act as a hub for language planning information and resources. A specific 
planning tool will populate a language plan based on an organisation’s 
needs. The hub will house exemplar language plans, vignettes from 
various departments, baseline surveys, evaluation tools – everything an 
organisation may need to create, implement and progress a language 
plan. The design and content of the OLPRC was completed during this 
financial year; its creation and implementation will be completed during 
the 2021–22 financial year.

Te Reo mō te Tari Booklet:

This booklet is a compilation of office language that supports Maihi 
Karauna, the government’s vision for, and responsibility to, te reo Māori. 
‘Te Reo mō te Tari’ holds important information for the state sector such 
as all Māori ministerial titles, guidance on job titles, Māori public service 
department names, current COVID-19 terminology, etc. There are a variety 
of themes within the booklet for all office experiences, making learning te 
reo Māori phrases an easier journey to pursue. The publication is on our 
Te Taura Whiri i te Reo Māori website.

Sharing real-time information on the nature and range of public service 
contributions to the revitalisation of te reo Māori.

Creating a central online ‘hub’ for agencies to access tools, resources, 
share examples/insights/learnings, seek advice on emerging issues and 
opportunities or reference to appropriate expertise, and encourage others.

Anticipating resource, tool and advice needs, and actively responding to 
emerging needs.

Lifting language capability to ensure that the provision of public services is 
safe, appropriate and respectful. 

Enabling (rather than compelling) agencies to make meaningful 
contributions to the revitalisation of te reo Māori – focusing on opportunity 
rather than obligation.

Our goal is to make it safe and 
easy for a better public service to 
inspire and lead New Zealand to 
revitalise te reo Māori by:

What Tools have been 
developed in 2020–21?

tetaurawhiri.govt.nz Tari
Te Reo Māori 
for the office

Te
Reo

mō
te
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Approach:

We interviewed those agencies with significant influence as well as public-
facing products and services. Other agencies were invited to take part in a 
short survey. 

We investigated how:

 › agencies understood Te Maihi Karauna, including its intent, 
requirements and implications 

 › respondents were progressing with developing their own language plans 
or other contributions such as the promotion of Te Maihi Karauna with 
sector stakeholders

 › we could support respondents who were yet to complete a language 
plan or initiate other contributions.

Respondents were genuinely interested in sharing and learning from the 
experiences of other organisations. Some were keen on practical tips such 
as measuring impact and language-plan development. Others questioned 
how agencies could better work together to support the normalisation of 
te reo Māori, extend their reach into homes and communities and create 
safe domains where people can confidently acquire and speak te reo Māori.

The report identified specific agency activities they would undertake that 
contributed to the Maihi Karauna goals, a timeframe, impact and success 
measures. The full report is on the Te Taura Whiri i te Reo Māori website.

What does the 
annual Maihi Karauna 
Implementation Plan 
Status report 2020–21 
tell us of the progress 
being made on the 
Maihi Karauna goals?

He Take Wānanga
Case Studies 01

Maihi Karauna Implementation 
Plan Status Report 2020/21 

Kia 
Māhorahora 
te Reo

Everywhere, 
Every Way, 

Everyone,
Every Day
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What evidence do we 
have to demonstrate 
that te reo Māori is 
more visible in the 
public sector?

We created an Organisation Capability Model, ‘E Tipu’, based on the 
Language Planning Elements outlined by Fishman.7 Incorporating elements 
from language planning implemented in Scotland and Wales, it sets out 
what organisations can expect to see as they improve. The te reo Māori 
vision must be set within the context of an organisation’s purpose, vision 
and activities. The items listed are neither extensive or mandatory and are 
provided as examples of what an organisation may consider. The model 
outlines levels of progress for organisations committed to the Crown 
Māori Language Strategy by utilising the levers that government has at its 
disposal to normalise the language i.e. create a supportive environment 
where the Māori language is seen, learnt, heard and used.

This is a continuous improvement model. Continuous improvement is 
an ongoing, long-term approach to improve processes, products and 
services. In contrast to change management, continuous improvement 
occurs gradually and aims to make small incremental changes over time. 
It requires a systemic dissatisfaction with the status quo, no matter 
how successful the organisation is perceived to be. There is a collective 
understanding that standing still is not improvement.

We plan to use this model in 2021–22 to assess the improvements 
Crown agencies make with initiatives that revitalise te reo Māori in the 
achievement of their business goals.

7. Joshua Fishman was an American linguist who specialised in the sociology of language, 
language planning, bilingual education, and language and ethnicity.
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Ngā Pūngao Puta
Reporting against the Statement 
of Performance Expectations

MEASURES
PAST TRENDS 2020–21 PERFORMANCE

2017–18
ACTUAL

2018–19
ACTUAL

2019–20 
ACTUAL*

MEASURES ACTUAL VARIANCE LINK TO OUTCOMES FRAMEWORK

Supports key events (nationally and regionally), 
including Māori Language Week and the Māori 
Language Awards, to continue to raise the profile of 
te reo Māori and encourage all New Zealanders to 
support its revitalisation.

Encourage and promote private sector efforts to 
revitalise te reo Māori, and particularly those that have 
significant reach, visibility and influence.

Deliver online rangatahi-focused promotional 
campaigns.

New measure 
2020–21

2.1)  Increased number of private sector 
and community organisations 
that participate in te reo Māori 
events, including language 
planning workshops.

1,074,426

total participants 
including 

individuals from 
3998 private sector 

and community 
organisations

Nil Increased use of te reo Māori by 
New Zealanders.

New measure 
2020–21

2.2) Increased number of relationships 
with stakeholders.

16 new 
stakeholders

Nil Increased use of te reo Māori by 
New Zealanders.

New measure 
2020–21

2.3)  Number of events supported – 
online and in person.

25 events 
supported

Nil Increased use of te reo Māori by 
New Zealanders.

New measure 
2020–21

2.4)  Percentage of organisations 
supported that report Right-shifts.8

Not measured NA Increased use of te reo Māori by 
New Zealanders.

Building the number of New Zealanders who value 
te reo Māori to encourage its learning and use as 
an integral part of our national identity02

HIGH-LEVEL OBJECTIVE

* New measures in 2020–21 had no target measure and the 
actual achieved will form the baseline for 2021–22.
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MEASURES
PAST TRENDS 2020–21 PERFORMANCE

2017–18
ACTUAL

2018–19
ACTUAL

2019–20 
ACTUAL*

MEASURES ACTUAL VARIANCE LINK TO OUTCOMES FRAMEWORK

Supports key events (nationally and regionally), 
including Māori Language Week and the Māori 
Language Awards, to continue to raise the profile of 
te reo Māori and encourage all New Zealanders to 
support its revitalisation.

Encourage and promote private sector efforts to 
revitalise te reo Māori, and particularly those that have 
significant reach, visibility and influence.

Deliver online rangatahi-focused promotional 
campaigns.

New measure 
2020–21

2.1)  Increased number of private sector 
and community organisations 
that participate in te reo Māori 
events, including language 
planning workshops.

1,074,426

total participants 
including 

individuals from 
3998 private sector 

and community 
organisations

Nil Increased use of te reo Māori by 
New Zealanders.

New measure 
2020–21

2.2) Increased number of relationships 
with stakeholders.

16 new 
stakeholders

Nil Increased use of te reo Māori by 
New Zealanders.

New measure 
2020–21

2.3)  Number of events supported – 
online and in person.

25 events 
supported

Nil Increased use of te reo Māori by 
New Zealanders.

New measure 
2020–21

2.4)  Percentage of organisations 
supported that report Right-shifts.8

Not measured NA Increased use of te reo Māori by 
New Zealanders.

8. Te Taura Whiri i te Reo Māori are still testing and developing all Right-shifts related reporting and will report against this measure in 2021–22.
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Support key events (nationally 
and regionally), including Māori 
Language Week and the Māori 
Language Awards, to continue to 
raise the profile of te reo Māori and 
encourage all New Zealanders to 
support its revitalisation

Encourage and promote private 
sector efforts to revitalise 
te reo Māori, particularly those 
that have significant reach, 
visibility and influence

Deliver Rarangatahi Hui

Deliver online rangatahi-focused 
promotional campaigns.

He Take Wānanga
Case Studies 

What we said 
we would do 
in 2020–21

02

Te Wiki o te Reo Māori 
14–20 September 2020

‘To safeguard te reo we 
need 1 million Māori 
language speakers by 
2040 but we want to 
start in 2020: even if 
only for a moment.’ 

Professor Rawinia Higgins, 
Māori Language Commissioner.

We have led nationwide Māori Language Week celebrations for many years 
however COVID-19 presented challenges few expected. Our organisation 
cancelled all mass face-to-face gatherings until further notice during 
Level 4 lockdown: we did not know a lot about the Mate Korona except that 
it was deadly and whānau Māori were particularly vulnerable. This left our 
team with a new challenge: could we still bring New Zealanders together to 
celebrate Māori Language Week? We knew momentum had been growing: 
from 4000 marchers at our first parade in Wellington in 2016 to 30,000 
marching in seven language parades across Aotearoa by 2019. 

Instead of scaling down Māori Language Week, we decided to go large and 
to go online. COVID-19 may have changed the way we gather but it would 
not stop us from bringing people together. Instead of a Māori Language 
march we began plans to host a virtual Māori Language Moment that people 
could join from wherever they were: whether in lockdown or not. 

Through an integrated social media, web and digital engagement strategy 
we asked people to join the Māori language movement by joining the Māori 
Language Moment. We know that it takes one generation to lose a language 
and three to get it back. So we chose to honour the moment language 
champions presented the Māori Language Petition to parliament in 1972 
while focusing on the future: 1 million speakers by 2040. Within two weeks 
of our launch more than 40,000 unique individuals and organisations had 
signed up with 6000 story uploads. Our hashtags began trending across 
social media as we launched a catchy music video with cameos from 
famous reo champions and influencers. Our newly launched language hub 
www.reomaori.co.nz became a source of action as well as inspiration: with 
people and organisations from our smallest rural communities to our largest 
cities – here and overseas – signing up and challenging their friends and 
connections to do the same. 
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‘Our Māori Language Moment will take place at 12pm on 
Monday the 14th September 2020. This marks the day and 
the hour in 1972 when a group of Māori language champions 
presented a petition on the steps of parliament calling 
for te reo to be taught in our schools. They had gathered 
the signatures of 30,000 New Zealanders. We will always 
remember those who championed te reo when it was 
socially and politically unacceptable to do so. 

Te reo Māori is the language of New Zealand. But it still 
needs New Zealanders to keep it safe.’

Our inaugural Māori Language Moment saw more than 1 million people – 
1,058,356 – celebrating te reo Māori at the same time: it remains the largest, 
single Māori language event in history. We know many more people took 
part as this number was solely those individuals and organisations who 
signed up on our website. 

The people of Wairarapa have a saying that encapsulated what 
New Zealanders achieved during Māori Language Week 2020: Tuitui 
tangata, tuitui korowai – bringing people together is like weaving a fine cloak. 

Eight Golds at the Golden World 
Awards for Excellence in PR, an 
annual global awards ceremony 
organised by the UN-aligned 
International Public Relations 
Association to recognise public 
relations achievements around 
the world (we are finalists for the 
top global award in PR that will be 
announced in October 2021)

Overall Best International 
Campaign (National) and Best 
International Website at the 
prestigious Reed Awards, 
Washington DC

Best Website, Best Digital 
Campaign at the Polaris Awards, 
a global competition rewarding 
exceptional campaigns and 
public affairs

Our Māori Language Moment has been honoured internationally:

1,058,356
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Celebrating te reo 
throughout the year

Over the past year, we implemented two major changes to ensure 
that te reo is celebrated 24/7, 365 days of the year: an online hub 
that is available at all times and new language campaigns.

An online hub for te reo Māori

We launched a new website to inspire and support language 
learners every day of the year: it is also the main platform hosting 
all of our campaigns. The site is integrated with our social media 
platforms and is updated regularly by our team, and also by 
everyday people wanting to share their stories and efforts to 
revitalise te reo Māori. Organisations are able to create their own 
profile pages which are curated and added to by members.

Waitangi Day: #MyMihi

We created an online tool to help people introduce themselves in 
te reo Māori. We encouraged learners to start small, take that first step 
and most of all: have fun doing it. Our short mihi supported learners 
to say their name, where their ancestors come from and where they 
live. The tool was shared, viewed and used by thousands by the end 
of Waitangi weekend.

Matariki: #Kaikōhau

We worked with te reo experts to create a kaikōhau or expression 
of hope for people to learn and use during Matariki. By working with 
the Ministry for Pacific Peoples (Pacific Education Centre) and the 
Department of Internal Affairs Translation Centre, learners were able to 
read and listen to our kaikōhau in the language of Aotearoa: as well as 
the languages of their ancestors. Our team also reached out to language 
revitalisation champions in Ireland, Wales and Scotland to ensure the 
ancestral languages of many Pākehā New Zealanders were captured. 
Colmar Brunton polling in 2019 also showed us we needed to do more 
to reach New Zealanders for whom English is a second language.

Other campaigns

02
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Stakeholder 
Engagements

When we weren’t in lockdown we were able to host manuhiri at our new, 
dedicated meeting space, Te Rito, on level nine of our building.

Fighting COVID-19 Since the first week of Level 4 lockdown in March 2020, we have supported 
the Iwi and All of Government response to COVID with translations and 
communications advice.

Rarangatahi Hui 2021

Feeling too 
embarrassed to speak1

4

2

5

3

A fear of speaking

Lacking confidence 
to speak

A need for safe spaces to learn, 
engage with and speak

Feeling judged by 
fluent speakers

These challenges were addressed 
over three online kauhau with each 
providing some tangible solutions for 
rangatahi to break these barriers.

Designed in the wake of 
COVID-19 lockdown, we chose 
to engage with our young 
people via online kauhau. 
Rangatahi Māori told us 
through Rarangatahi and Youth 
Week 2020 that they face 
five major challenges when 
attempting to learn, engage 
with and speak te reo Māori.

Rarangatahi 2021 objectives were:

1. To address the challenges 
rangatahi face when learning, 
engaging with and speaking 
te reo Māori.

 There were ten kaikōrero 
(presenters) over the kauhau 
series. Each kaikōrero shared 
and addressed the challenges 
they faced and how they 
overcame them.

2. Empowering rangatahi by 
providing a platform to provide 
solutions by rangatahi for 
rangatahi.

3. Provide a platform for rangatahi 
reo champions to provide 
solutions for rangatahi. 
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Summary of Engagement

As the Maihi Karauna goal for rangatahi in 2040 is that 150,000 Māori aged 
fifteen and over will use te reo as much as English, Rarangatahi 2021 set a 
goal to engage with 150,000 rangatahi Māori.

Across the 3 kauhau, Rarangatahi 2021 reached 244,000 people. This saw 
people of all ages and ethnicities engaging and responding to each kauhau. 

Māori Language Awards 
2020: 1 million winners

In response to COVID-19 we cancelled our annual Ngā Tohu Reo Māori 
Awards Dinner which in 2019 saw 500 attend at the Cordis Hotel in 
Auckland. For 2020 we named all participants who took part in this year’s 
historic Māori Language Moment a joint winner of the Supreme 2020 Māori 
Language Awards: Ngā Tohu Reo Māori. We emailed certificates to all those 
who took part and worked with the Ministry of Education so hard copies 
could be mailed to kura and schools.

244,000

02
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Maihi Karauna 
Events Supported

Established in the 2019–20 year to support events with a national reach 
that revitalise te reo Māori, we continued to support a range of initiatives 
in 2020–21. While COVID-19 saw several events cancelled, many still 
went ahead with music, sports, health and wellbeing, education, literature 
and Māori Language Week initiatives supported. Of the twenty-five 
events sponsored, seven were with new organisations that incorporated 
te reo Māori in their events such as the Designer’s Institute of NZ, Māori 
Basketball of NZ and The Auckland Writers Festival. Examples of ongoing 
support for national te reo Māori events included Waiata Māori Music 
Awards, Waiata Anthems 2, Manu Kōrero (regional competitions) and 
Te Wānanga o Raukawa Pulse Netball.
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82%
85%

85%

93%

91%

92%

90%

90%

96% 96%
83%

AWARE

AWARE

AWARE

AWARE

AWARE

AWARE

AWARE

AWARE

MĀORI NZ’ERS OF 
EUROPEAN 
ETHNICITY

OTHER 
ETHNICITIES

202020192018

What evidence 
do we have to 
demonstrate that 
there is an increased 
use of te reo Māori by 
New Zealanders and 
that New Zealanders 
value te reo Māori?

Following Māori Language Week, Te Taura Whiri i te Reo Māori undertakes 
an evaluation survey which has been conducted by Colmar Brunton since 
2018. Some of the key findings9 are shown in the five graphs below:

 › This year, nine in ten New Zealanders aged eighteen and over are 
aware of Māori Language Week. This is a new high and up significantly 
since 2018. Lower awareness in Auckland and among non-Māori/ 
non-NZ Pākehā cohorts and those living in Auckland likely driven by 
recently arrived New Zealanders.

 › For those aware of Māori Language Week te reo Māori is an important 
part of NZ culture and something to be proud of. Government 
promotion of te reo Māori is seen as important by the majority.

 › An increasing number feel optimistic that the use of te Reo Māori is 
growing in New Zealand. 

AWARENESS OF 
MĀORI LANGUAGE WEEK

AWARENESS AMONG 
ETHNIC GROUPS

AWARENESS IN REGIONS

He Take Wānanga
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+5% +7%

-3%

+4%

-2%

+6%

+2%

NC

Auckland

Other North Island

Wellington

Canterbury

Other South Island

02

9. n=502 general population with an additional n=100 boost of Māori respondents.
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11%

14%
4%

71%DECLINING

STAYING 
THE SAME

NOT SURE

GROWING

 STRONGLY AGREE AGREE NEITHER DISAGREE STRONGLY DISAGREE

MEAN

ATTITUDES TOWARD TE REO MĀORI

-5%

-2%

+1%
+6%

+1%

+1% +3%

+2% -3%

-3%

+3%+2%-2%NC

NC

NC

USE OF TE REO MĀORI IS…

The Māori language is an important 
part of our culture in New Zealand

Speaking Te Reo Māori is 
something to be proud of

It is important that the 
Government promotes the 
use of Te Reo Māori

37%4.1

4.0

3.8

47%
3%

3%

8%

15%

12%

4%

5%

9%

47%29%

27% 43% 6%
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Ngā Pūngao Puta
Reporting against the Statement 
of Performance Expectations

MEASURES PAST TRENDS 2020–21 PERFORMANCE

2017–18
ACTUAL

2018–19
ACTUAL

2019–20 
ACTUAL*

MEASURES ACTUAL VARIANCE LINK TO OUTCOMES FRAMEWORK

Support te reo Māori corpus, ensuring that quality 
new words, terms and standards are developed and 
available to support the use of te reo Māori.

New measure 
2019–20

514 new words 

3.1)  200 universal lexical  items (words and terms) 
to enable people to talk about technical and 
new things in te reo Māori.

200 new 
words

Nil Improved consistency and quality of 
te reo Māori.

Commission research focused on data modelling and 
best practice teaching and learning. New measure 

2019–20

3.2)  One standardisation of lexicon. 2 non-
Te Taura Whiri 

lexicons 
standardised

1 Improved planning and support for the 
learning and use of te reo Māori.

New measure 
2019–20

4 research 
projects

3.3)  Two research and evaluation projects 
commissioned.

2 Nil Improved planning and support for the 
learning and use of te reo Māori.

100% 100% 100%
3.3a)10Research funding allocated in accordance with 

the agreed funding criteria.
100% Nil Improved planning and support for the 

learning and use of te reo Māori.

Promote the language planning tools and resources 
we have developed to support our Maihi Karauna 
partners and the wide range of learning and use 
resources that are already available.

Create new resources in partnership with other 
organisations, including Te Mātāwai, to meet 
evident needs/gaps.

New Measure 
2020–21 

3.4) Percentage of resources viewed and 
downloaded.

233,000 
resources 

viewed

Nil Increase use of te reo Māori by 
New Zealanders.

New measure 
2020–21

3.5) Percentage of users reporting that resources 
were helpful in supporting their planning for, 
learning and/ or use of te reo Māori.

100%11 Nil Improved planning and support for the 
learning and use of te reo Māori.

New measure 
2020–21

3.6) Percentage of users who measure and report 
Right-shifts12 (Zero to Passive and Passive to 
Active) as a result of planning for, learning and/
or using te reo Māori.

Not measured NA Improved planning and support for the 
learning and use of te reo Māori.

Creating and promoting resources to support 
planning for, and the learning and use of, te reo Māori03 HIGH-LEVEL OBJECTIVE

* New measures in 2020–21 had no target measure and the 
actual achieved will form the baseline for 2021–22.
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MEASURES PAST TRENDS 2020–21 PERFORMANCE

2017–18
ACTUAL

2018–19
ACTUAL

2019–20 
ACTUAL*

MEASURES ACTUAL VARIANCE LINK TO OUTCOMES FRAMEWORK

Support te reo Māori corpus, ensuring that quality 
new words, terms and standards are developed and 
available to support the use of te reo Māori.

New measure 
2019–20

514 new words 

3.1)  200 universal lexical  items (words and terms) 
to enable people to talk about technical and 
new things in te reo Māori.

200 new 
words

Nil Improved consistency and quality of 
te reo Māori.

Commission research focused on data modelling and 
best practice teaching and learning. New measure 

2019–20

3.2)  One standardisation of lexicon. 2 non-
Te Taura Whiri 

lexicons 
standardised

1 Improved planning and support for the 
learning and use of te reo Māori.

New measure 
2019–20

4 research 
projects

3.3)  Two research and evaluation projects 
commissioned.

2 Nil Improved planning and support for the 
learning and use of te reo Māori.

100% 100% 100%
3.3a)10Research funding allocated in accordance with 

the agreed funding criteria.
100% Nil Improved planning and support for the 

learning and use of te reo Māori.

Promote the language planning tools and resources 
we have developed to support our Maihi Karauna 
partners and the wide range of learning and use 
resources that are already available.

Create new resources in partnership with other 
organisations, including Te Mātāwai, to meet 
evident needs/gaps.

New Measure 
2020–21 

3.4) Percentage of resources viewed and 
downloaded.

233,000 
resources 

viewed

Nil Increase use of te reo Māori by 
New Zealanders.

New measure 
2020–21

3.5) Percentage of users reporting that resources 
were helpful in supporting their planning for, 
learning and/ or use of te reo Māori.

100%11 Nil Improved planning and support for the 
learning and use of te reo Māori.

New measure 
2020–21

3.6) Percentage of users who measure and report 
Right-shifts12 (Zero to Passive and Passive to 
Active) as a result of planning for, learning and/
or using te reo Māori.

Not measured NA Improved planning and support for the 
learning and use of te reo Māori.

10. This measure is from Vote: Maori Development.

11. 15 entities surveyed and 9 entities responded.

12. Te Taura Whiri i te Reo Māori are still testing and developing all Right-shifts related reporting and will report against this measure in 2021–22.
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Promote the language planning 
tools and resources we have 
developed to support our Maihi 
Karauna partners and the 
wide range of learning and use 
resources that are already available

Create new resources in 
partnership with other 
organisations, including 
Te Mātāwai, to meet evident 
needs/gaps

Support te reo Māori corpus, 
ensuring that quality new 
words, terms and standards 
are developed and available to 
support the use of te reo Māori

Commission research focused on 
data modelling and best practice 
teaching and learning.

He Take Wānanga
Case Studies 

What we said 
we would do 
in 2020–21

03

Commissioning 
Research / Shared 
agenda research

Shared agenda – He Ara Poutama mō te reo Māori 

He Ara Poutama mō te reo Māori (Māori Pathways model) was a two-year 
project launched in 2020 by Te Taura Whiri i te Reo Māori, Te Mātāwai and 
the Ministry of Education. The development of a quantitative predictive 
model is a cutting-edge tool, that will provide the data and foresight to 
ensure activities promoting the revitalisation of te reo Māori will benefit and 
contribute to achieving the Maihi Karauna audacious goals. This model is 
based on data from a range of te reo Māori learning contexts and databases. 
It allows our organisation to see the potential future impact of different 
investments that we make now, to improve te reo Māori uptake and fluency.
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Commissioned Research – Monitoring and Evaluation 
of Te Whare o te Reo Mauriora

Aims:

 › Develop a te reo Māori 
pathways model to assist in 
planning, resourcing and policy 
decisions

 › Identification of the drivers 
of language acquisition, 
proficiency and transmission 
of te reo Māori within the home 
and community contexts

 › Forecast potential future 
impact of different investments

 › Assist investment and policy 
decision-making

 › Improve te reo Māori data and 
indicators mechanisms

 › Create baseline data to 
measure future growth of te reo 
Māori from 2013 to 2021

 › Grow our knowledge of data 
and statistical modelling, IDI 
and administrative data use 
and how we can make use of 
it to assist the revitalisation 
of te reo Māori

1 3

The commissioned research project, Research, Monitoring and Evaluation 
Programme 2020–2023 includes the following four components:

KoPA/ZePA Model: development 
of new right shifting measurement 
tools for use by Te Taura Whiri i te 
Reo Māori

1a.) Prepare and test the 
measurement tool that measures 
the right shifting of individuals 
and organisations revitalising the 
Māori language.

2 4
Annual Report: report on the status 
of the implementation of the Maihi 
Karauna for the 2020–21, 2021–22 
and 2022–23 years 

2a.) A report on the status of 
the implementation of the Maihi 
Karauna initiatives over three years

Te Whare o Te Reo Mauriora: 
formative and summative 
evaluations 

3a.) Create an Evaluation Plan 
for formative and summative 
evaluations of Te Whare o 
Te Reo Mauriora over two years

Maihi Karauna: formative and 
summative evaluation reports

4a.) Create an Evaluation Plan 
for formative and summative 
evaluations of Maihi Karauna 

This project will track, 
monitor and report on 
activities initiated within the 
public sector under the Maihi 
Karauna strategy. Te Taura 
Whiri i te Reo Māori aims to 
create an environment where 
iwi and Māori can succeed and 
where the state sector, private 
sector, and wider community 
are supported to revitalise 
te reo Māori. The monitoring 
and evaluation of Te Whare o 
te Reo Mauriora focuses on 
whether the activities for both 
Maihi Māori and Maihi Karauna 
contribute to the objectives 
and vision of Te Whare o te Reo 
Mauriora while also identifying 
where improvements can be 
made. This is one of the first 
steps we need to take if we 
are to achieve our strategic 
goals, however there is a long 
journey ahead of us and many 
challenges to overcome. 
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Corpus Development

He Take Wānanga
Case Studies 03

Te Taura Whiri i te Reo Māori receive a number of requests during the 
year to coin new words for a range of subjects. We utilise a web-based 
tool – Te Putanga Kupu Hou to:

 › keep a repository for new words;

 › allow a forum of debate;

 › keep a record of lexical development and sociolinguistic explanation;

 › provide a process by which users of te reo Māori can vote to retain or 
reject new and proposed words;

 › provide an opportunity for the te reo Māori translator and interpreter 
community to be involved in lexical development of te reo Māori; and

 › provide a mechanism for increased transparency of the quality 
assurance role of Te Taura Whiri i te Reo Māori.

In the table below are examples of the new words or terms that were 
created in this period. There were 200 words or terms that were coined 
in this period.
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Lexicon List – Job Position Customs Officer Āpiha Te Mana Ārai

Chief Customs Officer Āpiha Mātāmua Te Mana Ārai

Chief Legal Advisor Kaitohutohu Mātāmua ā-Ture

Chief Legal Counsel Kaiwhakamārama Mātāmua ā-Ture

Communications Manager Pou Whakahaere Whakawhitiwhiti

Counsellor (Customs) Kaingārahu (Te Mana Ārai)

Head of IT Operations Tumu Whakahaere Hangarau

Lexicon – Zoom / Teams AI (Artificial Intelligence) Atamai Hangahanga 

Camera Off/On Whakaweto/Whakakā Kāmera

Digitisation Whakamatihiko 

Mute/Unmute All Whakangū/Wetengū Katoa

Join with Computer Audio Hono atu me te Ororongo Rorohiko

Mute/Unmute Whakangū/Wetengū

Passcode Waehere Huna

Pin Video Tāpiri Ataata

Schedule a Meeting Whakarite Hui

Screen (digital devices) Matahiko 

Lexicon – Science Geochemistry Mātai Matū Aronuku 

Antiviral Rongoā whakanoa

Geothermal Pōkākā Aronuku 

Hydrogeology Mātai Aronuku ā-Wai 

Stratigraphy Mātai Kahupapa 

Geohazard Matepā Aronuku 

Hydrogeology Mātai Aronuku ā-Wai 

Hydrothermal Waipuia 

Seismology Mātai Rū 

Lexicon – Health Swab Muku

Transmission Rere

Breathlessness Hēmanawa

Dry Cough Mare Tauraki

Vaccination Centre Pokapū Wero Ārai Mate
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Ngā Pūngao Puta
Reporting against the Statement 
of Performance Expectations

MEASURES PAST TRENDS 2020–21 PERFORMANCE

2017–18
ACTUAL

2018–19
ACTUAL

2019–20 
ACTUAL*

MEASURES ACTUAL VARIANCE LINK TO OUTCOMES FRAMEWORK

License, register and provide training for translators and 
interpreters and facilitate access to their services.

New measure in 
2019–20

58 active 
licensed 

translators and 
interpreters

4.1) Increase the number of active licensed 
translators and interpreters to 70.13

70 Nil Improved consistency and quality of 
te reo Māori.

New Measure in 
2019–20

59 participants

4.2) 66 participants in Te Toi Reo Māori training. 66 
participants 

attended 
training

Nil Improved consistency and quality of 
te reo Māori.

Promote and deliver the Level Finder and Public Sector 
Māori examinations.

New Measure 
2019–20

120 candidates

4.3) Increased number of people sitting the Level 
Finder and Public Sector Māori examinations to 
132 candidates.

136 
candidates

4 Increase visibility and use of 
te reo Māori by the public service.

New Measure 
2020–21

4.4) Increased visibility of Level Finder and Public 
Sector Māori examinations – 3 promotion 
events.

3 promotion 
events held

Nil Increase visibility and use of 
te reo Māori by the public service.

New measure 
2020–21

4.5) Percentage of Te Toi Reo Māori participants that 
measurably Right-shift.14

Not measured NA Increase use of te reo Māori by 
New Zealanders.

New measure 
2019–20

-8%

4.5a)15 >20% increase in the number of Level Finder 
and Translator/Interpreter examinations.

-8%16 -28% Increase use of te reo Māori by 
New Zealanders.

Ensuring the quality of 
te reo Māori is maintained04 HIGH-LEVEL OBJECTIVE

* New measures in 2020–21 had no target measure and the 
actual achieved will form the baseline for 2021–22.
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MEASURES PAST TRENDS 2020–21 PERFORMANCE

2017–18
ACTUAL

2018–19
ACTUAL

2019–20 
ACTUAL*

MEASURES ACTUAL VARIANCE LINK TO OUTCOMES FRAMEWORK

License, register and provide training for translators and 
interpreters and facilitate access to their services.

New measure in 
2019–20

58 active 
licensed 

translators and 
interpreters

4.1) Increase the number of active licensed 
translators and interpreters to 70.13

70 Nil Improved consistency and quality of 
te reo Māori.

New Measure in 
2019–20

59 participants

4.2) 66 participants in Te Toi Reo Māori training. 66 
participants 

attended 
training

Nil Improved consistency and quality of 
te reo Māori.

Promote and deliver the Level Finder and Public Sector 
Māori examinations.

New Measure 
2019–20

120 candidates

4.3) Increased number of people sitting the Level 
Finder and Public Sector Māori examinations to 
132 candidates.

136 
candidates

4 Increase visibility and use of 
te reo Māori by the public service.

New Measure 
2020–21

4.4) Increased visibility of Level Finder and Public 
Sector Māori examinations – 3 promotion 
events.

3 promotion 
events held

Nil Increase visibility and use of 
te reo Māori by the public service.

New measure 
2020–21

4.5) Percentage of Te Toi Reo Māori participants that 
measurably Right-shift.14

Not measured NA Increase use of te reo Māori by 
New Zealanders.

New measure 
2019–20

-8%

4.5a)15 >20% increase in the number of Level Finder 
and Translator/Interpreter examinations.

-8%16 -28% Increase use of te reo Māori by 
New Zealanders.

13. 49 candidates passed the translator and/or interpreter exam in 2020–21 and will be added to the translator and interpreter register in 2021–22.

14. Te Taura Whiri i te Reo Māori are still testing and developing all Right-shifts related reporting and will report against this measure in 2021–22.

15. This measure is from Vote: Maori Development.

16. We did not achieve our target due to trialling an online service during the first half of the year. Issues were identified in the trials and are still 
being resolved. An online service is expected to be available in 2021–22. Calculated based on the 2020–21 actual of nine Level Finder Examinations 
(ten in 2019–20) and two translator/interpreter examinations (two in 2019–20).
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License, register and provide 
training for translators and 
interpreters and facilitate 
access to their services

He Take Wānanga
Case Studies 

What we said 
we would do 
in 2020–21

04

1

Level Finder 
Examination 
Campaign

Promote and deliver the 
Level Finder and Public 
Sector Māori examinations.

This year Te Taura Whiri i te Reo Māori committed to 
promoting our Level Finder Examination to wider Aotearoa 
for the first time. Previously promotion was by word of 
mouth. The three promotional events undertaken were:

Digital advertisement campaign 
We launched a digital advertisement campaign across our social 
media platforms on 3 June 2021 which was met with overwhelming 
interest: more than 1500 expressions of interest within a week. 
This exceeded our expectations and tested our ability to supply this 
service to this scale, but also identified the need. The campaign 
included three promotional videos which saw: 

 − Over 200,000 people reached across digital channels, 
26,000 clicks on the ad. 

 − The ads were placed across sites outside of Facebook, 
increasing reach and visibility. People reported seeing it on 
other social networking platforms such as Instagram.

 − The FAQ videos proved to be informative and are a great tool 
on the website, though they didn’t get as much visibility and 
engagement as the static posts. 

 − The campaign performed well organically on the initial 
announcement posts. LFE proves to be a popular offering that 
does not require much paid advertisement.

‘It gave me a real 
confidence boost 

– a reminder that 
my reo knowledge 
is greater than I 
believed it was.’ 

Candice
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2

3

Whakamātauria Tō Reo Māori

Whakamātauria Tō Reo Māori (Level Finder Examination) is the 
National Māori Language Proficiency Examinations administered by 
Te Taura Whiri i te Reo Māori. This examination is open to individuals 
and organisations wishing to test their Māori language proficiency 
against the Whakamātauria Tō Reo Māori framework. The LFE 
provides a general indicator of a candidates’ ability to aurally recognise 
words as well as their knowledge of vocabulary and grammar. We 
continue to receive expressions of interest on behalf of individuals 
and organisations. As of 30 June 2021, the following was received: 

 › 1,426 individuals expressed their interest to sit LFE, fifteen of these 
individuals successfully sat the LFE examination in 2020–21.

 › Twenty-seven organisations expressed interest in having the 
exam hosted internally and we reached out to a total of nine 
organisations. 

 › We hosted a total of nine sittings, in multiple locations across 
Auckland and Wellington. 

 › A total of 136 participants (target of 132 participants) sat the Level 
finder examination in 2020–21.

Toi Reo Māori

Te Taura Whiri i te Reo Māori has annually administered Toi Reo Māori 
Translators and Interpreters examination since our inception. To 
encourage and support participation in this examination, in recent 
years we have introduced a set of pre-examination wānanga, where 
kaiako prepare and support candidates for the upcoming examination. 
These have proven invaluable to the success rate of the candidates. 
In these uncertain times, Te Taura Whiri i te Reo Māori digitised the 
resources, wānanga and the examination to ensure the continuity of the 
examination during COVID-19 and reach more people across Aotearoa.

2020–21 Toi Reo Māori results: 

 › Sixty-six candidates attended at least one pre-examination 
wānanga, a total of four wānanga were held.

 › Fourteen candidates were awarded both the interpreters and 
translators certificate

 › Thirty-two were awarded the translator certificate 

 › Three were awarded the interpreter certificate

 › A total of forty-nine candidates were added to the interpreter and 
translator register
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Ngā Pūngao Puta
Reporting against the Statement 
of Performance Expectations

MEASURES PAST TRENDS 2020–21 PERFORMANCE

2017–18
ACTUAL

2018–19
ACTUAL

2019–20 
ACTUAL*

MEASURES ACTUAL VARIANCE

Ensuring the effective and efficient operation of 
Te Taura Whiri i te Reo Māori to deliver the best 
support for enabling revitalisation of te reo Māori.

New measure 
2020–21

5.1) Turnover <20%. 18% 2%

New measure 
2020–21

5.2) Staff engagement survey responses >60%. 83% 23%

New measure 
2020–21

5.3)  Equal employment opportunity (EEO) 
requirements met – EEO requirements included 
in all relevant documents and practices.

Met Nil

Meet Health and Safety Obligations. New measure 
2020–21

5.4) Implement zero-harm health and safety 
strategy.

Met Nil

Further improve financial management

Audit focus areas:

 › Management control environment Good Very Good Very Good
5.5) Maintain good ratings or achieve better from 

Audit New Zealand.17
Met Nil

 › Financial information systems and controls Good Good Very Good

 › Service performance information and associated 
systems and controls.

Good Good Good

Organisational health 
and capability05

* New measures in 2020–21 had no target measure and the 
actual achieved will form the baseline for 2021–22.
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MEASURES PAST TRENDS 2020–21 PERFORMANCE

2017–18
ACTUAL

2018–19
ACTUAL

2019–20 
ACTUAL*

MEASURES ACTUAL VARIANCE

Ensuring the effective and efficient operation of 
Te Taura Whiri i te Reo Māori to deliver the best 
support for enabling revitalisation of te reo Māori.

New measure 
2020–21

5.1) Turnover <20%. 18% 2%

New measure 
2020–21

5.2) Staff engagement survey responses >60%. 83% 23%

New measure 
2020–21

5.3)  Equal employment opportunity (EEO) 
requirements met – EEO requirements included 
in all relevant documents and practices.

Met Nil

Meet Health and Safety Obligations. New measure 
2020–21

5.4) Implement zero-harm health and safety 
strategy.

Met Nil

Further improve financial management

Audit focus areas:

 › Management control environment Good Very Good Very Good
5.5) Maintain good ratings or achieve better from 

Audit New Zealand.17
Met Nil

 › Financial information systems and controls Good Good Very Good

 › Service performance information and associated 
systems and controls.

Good Good Good

17. The audit rating relates to the previous financial year (2019−20) due to the timing for the completion of the annual audit.
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Te Taura Whiri i te Reo 
Māori is the agency 
responsible for: 

Te Taiao e Mahi nei Mātou 
Our Operating Environment

‘Mr Long shows initiative and gets what he wants; 
Mr Short is content to let fate take its course.’

‘Tū ana a Raeroa, 
noho ana a Raepoto’

• leading the coordination of the implementation 
of the Maihi Karauna 

• promoting the Māori language as a living language 
and as an ordinary means of communication; and

• issuing certificates of competency in the 
Māori language.

In the wider context, the government has committed to meaningful 
engagement with Māori to effect better quality outcomes for Māori 
and realise Māori Crown relationships. Te Taura Whiri i te Reo Māori 
supports the implementation of Whāinga Amorangi18 and in particular 
the reo components of those plans.

In 2019, we embedded our organisational structure and online 
translator licensing programme but continue to adapt to the changing 
policy environment within a COVID-19 affected New Zealand.

As a small agency with a large mandate and large influence, we are well 
positioned, and committed to growing and leveraging our relationships 
across the Public Sector and wider New Zealand.

18. The name of the Māori Crown Relations Capability Framework developed by Te Arawhiti.
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Organisational Health 
and Capability

This period saw our people transition in and out of COVID-19 Alert Levels, 
working in the office, and at home as the need arose. 

As Alert Levels fluctuated, our people were encouraged to ensure they 
placed emphasis on looking after themselves and their whānau, and were 
encouraged to work from home, particularly if they or members of their 
whānau were vulnerable. Even during Alert Level 2 in June 2021, when the 
rules of the Alert Level allowed people to be at work, our default position 
was to work from home, working in the office only by choice. 

Our staff were provided with all the equipment needed to work from home – 
our daily karakia went from being in the office, to in the office and on Zoom, 
to just being on Zoom. We became more agile in our work practices and our 
ways to ensure we remained connected and focussed on delivery of our 
kaupapa from wherever we were located.

Te Taura Whiri i te Reo Māori Annual Report  2020–2021 47



Staff profile

Our people are crucial to both our vision and 
mission: to make te reo Māori an ordinary means of 
communication for all New Zealanders.

As a result of our successful budget bid for Budget 
2020 we had funding for 42 positions, and 30 
staff. As at 30 June 2021, there were a total of 34 
staff, (two Fixed Term) with three contractors in 
established roles, a total of 37 staff.

In May 2021, in response to a successful budget bid 
we created a new structure, which brought the total 
number of positions to 56.

The average age of staff is 41.5 years (2019–20 
average age was 43.6). The average length of service 
is 3.06 years, (average in 2019–20 was 2.29 years). 

The table below shows our staff profile at 30 June 
for the last two financial years.

2019–20 2020–21 

Total staff 30 34

Permanent staff 28 32

Fixed-term staff 2 2

Casual staff - -

Vacancies (in recruitment) 11 12

Male 9 13

Female 21 21

Staff with a disability - -
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Compliance with the ‘Good 
Employer’ obligations

The workforce activities carried out by Te Taura Whiri 
i te Reo Māori for the last financial year are measured 
against the following categories. These reflect the 
elements of ‘The Good Employer’ set out in section 118 
of the Crown Entities Act 2004. 

1
Good and safe working conditions

Te Taura Whiri i te Reo Māori continues to commit 
to creating and ensuring a safe and healthy work 
environment for all staff. This year the focus was 
on safety during a pandemic. A COVID-19 plan was 
drafted and implemented, designed to keep our staff 
and their families safe. Significant emphasis was put 
on communication, and we have ensured that staff are 
able to be easily contacted by their manager, so that 
we can respond quickly to changes in alert levels. 

Our health and safety committee continued 
to meet, and considered a range of issues. 
The committee is represented by each business 
group in the organisation. Staff are supported in 
first-aid certification and civil defence training. 
Our preparedness for an earthquake or other civil 
emergency is maintained, and emergency grab bags 
are supplied to all staff. We have emergency water and 
supplies on site, and they are refreshed regularly. 

During 2020–21, we offered Influenza vaccinations 
to all staff free of charge, and eye tests continue to 
be reimbursed as per our policy. We also offer staff 
the opportunity to use the gym on the lower level 
of  our building. 

We encourage staff to call out inappropriate 
workplace behaviour, using relevant policies and 
procedures we have in place. We have zero tolerance 
for bullying or harassment of any kind. Information on 
what constitutes bullying is available to all staff as part 
of our human resources policies and procedures and 
in Worksafe New Zealand’s publication Preventing and 
Responding to Bullying at Work (Worksafe 2017). 

We continue to offer EAP services through an external 
provider, Vitae. Reports are provided by Vitae, which 
whilst anonymous, assist us to monitor the wellbeing 
of our people. All staff have access to an employee 
assistance programme, and we have a representative 
of Vitae visit the organisation every fortnight. 

During this period, during an all staff meeting we ran a 
facilitated session on giving and receiving feedback, 
in which everyone was given tools to use in giving 
feedback, we practiced speaking up, and giving both 
positive and constructive feedback to each other.

A Kōrero Mai Ask Your Team survey was commissioned 
in April 2021, 83 percent of our staff participated with 
an overall score of 69 percent, ahead of the State 
Sector benchmark score of 62 percent. The results 
were fed back to all staff. This has provided a number 
of valuable insights in to how our people are feeling, 
what we are doing well, and where we have room 
for improvement, and has been used as a reference 
point. Initiatives such as the facilitated session on 
giving feedback have been undertaken in response to 
the survey. This survey will be run every year, so we 
benchmark the morale of the organisation. 

Salary bands are determined by information from an 
external party, Strategic Pay, and we benchmark all 
staff pay against the public sector average. We are 
committed to paying all our staff at least 85 percent 
of the median for these salary bands, well above 
the living wage. 

Our people are approximately split 50:50, half being 
party to a Collective Employment Agreement (CEA) 
and half an Individual Employment Agreement (IEA). 
Our remuneration during this time period was heavily 
influenced by guidance by Te Kawa Mataaho, the Public 
Service Commission, in which visible pay restraint in 
the public sector was an appropriate response to the 
impact of COVID-19. A pay increase was made to those 
employed on the CEA as per the agreement which 
expired on the 30th June 2021. In line with the guidance 
from Te Kawa Mataaho, we ceased performance 
payments for all staff and there were no pay  increases 
for staff on individual employment agreements. 

2
Equal employment opportunities programme

Te Taura Whiri i te Reo Māori has been committed 
to diversity in the workplace throughout the 
2020–21 period. Our recruitment policy reflects our 
commitment to equal employment opportunities, 
and we have demonstrated our commitment to 
employ on merit. 

Of our thirty-four staff as at 30 June, twenty-two were 
female (65 percent) and 12 male (35 percent). We are 
predominately Māori but have a range of other ethnicities 
including Vietnamese, Malaysian, Pākehā, Tokelau and 
Sāmoan heritage represented amongst other staff.
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In August 2020, we undertook work to identify the 
gender pay gap, which, excluding the CE, found a 
significant gap between male staff (average salary 
$100,987) and female staff (average salary $81,684). 
An analysis was then undertaken to compare like for 
like positions in order to identify any gender-based 
inequalities. As a result of this exercise no action 
was taken, as the difference in salary was accounted 
for by the difference in positions undertaken. This 
will continue to be monitored, and further work will 
be undertaken in line with Te Kawa Mataaho (Public 
Service Commission guidance in 2021). 

We have specific policies that enable flexible working 
arrangements and working arrangements subject 
to management approval. These have been used by 
our people with short and long term arrangements 
put in place to accommodate individual needs, while 
meeting the needs of the business.

3
Impartial recruitment selection

Our attraction and retention initiatives focus on 
employees with good levels of Māori language 
proficiency and specialist technical skills. Selection of 
new staff is undertaken by using panel interviews and 
asking behavioural questions. Panels include human 
resources, management and staff representatives 
and, in some cases, external people. All prospective 
staff progress through a stringent recruitment 
process that includes a written test, psychometric 
evaluation and an interview with the chief executive. 
Appointed candidates receive written offers and 
employment agreements prior to starting work and 
induction in the first few weeks of appointment. 
During the course of the year, we recruited six new 
staff compared with two in 2019–20.

4
Recognises involvement of Māori staff and 
Māori values

As a predominantly Māori organisation we continue 
to put emphasis on the involvement of Māori ways 
of doing business. We meet as an office for karakia, 
waiata and pānui every morning that are conducted 
in te reo Māori and translated into English as 
required to include everyone. 

Te reo Māori is encouraged as an everyday way 
of conducting business, with most of our all staff 
notices, verbal and written, delivered first in te reo 
Māori, then in English to include those whose te reo 
Māori is still developing. 

Advertisements for roles are increasingly being 
written in both English and te reo Māori and 
recruitment campaigns are designed to attract 
candidates with te reo Māori proficiency, specifically 
targeting Māori job sites. 

Our recruitment focussed on employing people who 
have a connection or identify with the kaupapa of 
Te Taura Whiri i te Reo Māori. 

As we have and are continuing to employ at an 
increasing rate, emphasis has been placed on 
induction and ensuring that all new people are 
welcomed, and brought in to understand and 
become a part of that which is unique about a 
predominately Māori organisation. All new staff, 
regardless of employment type are welcomed by a 
mihi whakatau, and as a part of the new induction 
process information has been developed to assist 
them understand ‘how we do things around here’ in 
a tikanga Māori based organisation. 

We pay a te reo Māori allowance to staff who have 
achieved LFE level 3 or above, which is claimed 
by fourteen people. In addition, during the period 
an additional three of our staff successfully sat 
the translator and interpreter exam, bringing the 
total number of staff holding the qualification to 
six. Our learners in te reo Māori benefitted from 
an in-house class every Friday, regularly attended 
by five to six attendees. Others were assisted on 
their te reo Māori journey by informal coaching, 
study leave and study assistance. All staff were 
expected to include a plan to increase their abilities 
in te reo Māori by including it as a specific item in 
their Personal Development Plans.
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5
Opportunities for employment development, 
promotion and exit

All staff have Personal Development Plans and are 
encouraged to undertake professional development 
to support them in their roles. 

All staff were expected to include a plan to increase 
their abilities in te reo Māori by including it as a 
specific item in their Personal Development Plans. 

Staff development costs for 2020–21 were $39,989 
(2019–20 were $37,846). During the year, six staff 
resigned. The overall staff turnover was 18 percent 
(20 percent in 2019–20).

6
Recognition of the employment requirements, and 
the cultural differences, of ethnic or minority groups.

We foster an inclusive environment that respects 
and values all staff members from different cultural 
and ethnic backgrounds. We acknowledge and 
respect different languages and the richness this 
brings to Aotearoa New Zealand, and to us as an 
organisation. Of note, the Vietnamese translation of 
the kaikōhau (expression of hope) for Matariki this 
year was provided by a member of our staff.

7
Recognition of the employment requirements 
of women

Women make up 65 percent of all staff, 40 percent of 
the Board, 40 percent of the Senior Leadership Team 
and 38 percent of all People Leaders. 

We provide an environment where women are not 
disadvantaged by having children, in particular, by 
taking parental leave.

8
Recognition of the employment requirements 
of persons with disabilities

During the course of the year we have worked 
with staff with health challenges, both mental and 
physical. We have worked with people on wellbeing 
plans, and worked with an Occupational Health 
Physician to seek guidance on how to support our 
people. We continue to have no staff who identify as 
disabled (2019–20 nil). 
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Governance Te Taura Whiri i te Reo Māori is governed by a Board of Commissioners, 
consisting of five members appointed by the Minister for Māori 
Development. At 30 June 2021, the Commissioners were:

Compliance 
Information

Professor Rawinia Higgins  
Chair

Charisma Rangipunga 
Deputy Chair

Wayne Panapa 
Board Member

Dr Jeremy Tātere MacLeod  
Board Member

Bayden Barber 
Board Member

Directions from the Minister

Te Taura Whiri i te Reo Māori did not receive any formal directions 
from the Minister for Māori Development in 2020–21 (nil 2019–20).

Acts in breach of statute

Te Taura Whiri i te Reo Māori cannot act in a way that is contrary 
to, or outside the authority of, an Act of Parliament. Te Taura Whiri 
i te Reo Māori has not performed any ultra vires transactions 
(transactions beyond its legal powers) (section 19 of the Crown 
Entities Act 2004).

Permission to act

Under the Crown Entities Act 2004, a member who has an interest 
in a matter relating to a Crown entity must not vote or take part in 
any discussion or decision of the board or any committee relating 
to that matter. However, the Chair of a Crown entity may exempt 
one or more board members from this requirement if it is in the 
public interest to do so (section 68(6) of the Crown Entities Act 
2004). No exemptions were granted in 2020–21 (nil 2019–20).
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Looking Forward 

185,000

71,000

152,000 / 82%

61,000 / 85%

As of 2021, there are...

conversational 
speakers of te reo 
Māori in Aotearoa

of these conversational 
speakers are Māori

fluent speakers 
of te reo Māori 
in Aotearoa

of these fluent 
speakers are Māori
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While COVID-19 continued to disrupt the lives of all New Zealanders, 
Te Taura Whiri i te Reo Māori adapted to a new mode of operation 
focusing on unity and collaborative effort for, and through, te reo Māori. 

More than 1 million New Zealanders came together to celebrate Te Wiki 
o te Reo Māori by sharing WHY they support the revitalisation of te reo 
Māori and how they celebrated this inaugural online campaign – Wā Tuku 
Reo Māori – Māori Language Moment’. Our polling shows that 86 percent 
of New Zealanders now value te reo Māori yet the numbers of speakers is 
not progressing at the same rate. Te Taura Whiri i te Reo Māori continues 
to expand our influence through digital campaigns and social media.

Maihi Māori and Te Whare o te Reo Mauriora, commissioned and 
completed in 2020–21, He Ara Poutama mō te reo Māori, a tool to 
help forge a path towards the future by forecasting the number of 
conversational and fluent speakers of te reo Māori from now to beyond 
2040. Te Taura Whiri i te Reo Māori continues to use sound research 
practice to understand the drivers of te reo Māori language revitalisation 
and what interventions will help New Zealand reach the audacious goals 
of Maihi Karauna.

Public Service agencies outlined through their language plans how they 
support the Maihi Karauna, Whāinga Amorangi and the revitalisation of 
te reo Māori. Te Taura Whiri i te Reo Māori commits to strengthening our 
established relationships with each agency to deliver better service and 
products that support each agency’s efforts and the system as a whole. 

As the agency responsible for leading the implementation of the 
coordination of the Maihi Karauna, Te Taura Whiri i te Reo Māori 
works across the Public Sector to test ideas and share learnings. 
The membership of Te Papa Kōrero will expand to reflect the leadership 
and collaboration that the agencies are demonstrating. 

Over the next four years, Te Taura Whiri i te Reo Māori will innovate and 
improve our support for te reo Māori in partnership with our fellow Public 
Sector colleagues and Te Mātāwai. Online tools will continue to be a 
strong area of focus as we establish a broad range of support for te reo 
through our social media campaigns, translator licencing programme and 
language planning centre.

Looking forward
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VOTE: MĀORI DEVELOPMENT AND OUTPUT CLASS

Te Taura Whiri i te Reo Māori is funded from Vote: Māori Development under the following appropriation:

1: Whakarauora Reo mō te Motu (National Māori Language Revitalisation) – supporting the revitalisation of the 
Māori language at a national level; and the administration of Te Taura Whiri i te Reo Māori.

The funding is intended to achieve the effective promotion, protection and revitalisation of the Māori language 
through the:

 › ongoing operation of Te Taura Whiri i te Reo Māori

 › delivery of a research programme supporting Māori language revitalisation

 › the Maihi Karauna (Crown te reo Māori strategy), and

 › other statutory functions that Te Taura Whiri i te Reo Māori is required to perform.

The funding is also intended to contribute to the achievement of the following impacts for Vote: Māori 
Development19:

 › Māori are protecting, sustaining and growing their reo, taonga, mātauranga and tikanga

 › Māori are sustainably growing and developing their resources

 › Māori are acquiring skills and knowledge.

The 2020–21 Estimates of Appropriation require Te Taura Whiri to report on three performance measures. 
The reporting against those performance measures is included within our reporting against the 
Statement of Performance Expectations on pages 16 to 45.

Total funding is shown in the table below.

Table 1: 2020–21 actual and budgeted income by source

2020–21 Actual

$

2020–21 Budget

$

Variance

$

Appropriation: National Māori Language Revitalisation20 8,810,000 8,810,000 -

Total revenue – Crown 8,810,000 8,810,000 -

Other revenue 58,799 360,000 301,201

Total revenue 8,868,799 9,170,000 301,201

        

Te Tauākī Whakahaere Pūtea
Statement of Financial Performance

19. Vote: Māori Development, The Estimates of Appropriations 2020–21 − Māori Affairs Sector, B.5, Vol. 8, page 4.

20. The appropriation revenue received by Te Taura Whiri equals the Government’s actual expenses incurred in relation to the appropriation, 
which is a required disclosure under the Public Finance Act.
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Te Pūrongo a te Kaitātari Kaute Motuhake 
Independent Auditor’s Report

To the readers of the financial statements and performance information of 
Te Taura Whiri i te Reo Māori for the year ended 30 June 2021

The Auditor-General is the auditor of Te Taura Whiri i te Reo Māori (Māori Language Commission) 
(Te Taura Whiri). The Auditor-General has appointed me, Stephen Lucy, using the staff and resources of 
Audit New Zealand, to carry out the audit of the financial statements and the performance information, 
including the performance information for an appropriation, of Te Taura Whiri on his behalf. 

Opinion 

We have audited:

 › the financial statements of Te Taura Whiri on pages 60 to 77, that comprise the statement of 
financial position as at 30 June 2021, the statement of comprehensive revenue and expenses, 
statement of changes in equity and statement of cash flows for the year ended on that date and the 
notes to the financial statements including a summary of significant accounting policies and other 
explanatory information; and

 › the performance information of Te Taura Whiri on pages 12 to 43 and 55.

In our opinion:

 › the financial statements of Te Taura Whiri on pages 60 to 77:

 − present fairly, in all material respects:

• its financial position as at 30 June 2021; and

• its financial performance and cash flows for the year then ended; and

 − comply with generally accepted accounting practice in New Zealand in accordance with the 
Public Benefit Entity Standards Reduced Disclosure Regime; and

 › the performance information on pages 12 to 43 and 55:

 − presents fairly, in all material respects, the performance of Te Taura Whiri for the year ended 
30 June 2021, including:

• for each class of reportable outputs:

• its standards of delivery performance achieved as compared with forecasts included in 
the statement of performance expectations for the financial year; and

• its actual revenue and output expenses as compared with the forecasts included in the 
statement of performance expectations for the financial year; and

• what has been achieved with the appropriation; and

• the actual expenses or capital expenditure incurred compared with the appropriated or 
forecast expenses or capital expenditure.

 − complies with generally accepted accounting practice in New Zealand.

Our audit was completed on 17 December 2021. This is the date at which our opinion is expressed.

The basis for our opinion is explained below. In addition, we outline the responsibilities of the Board 
and our responsibilities relating to the financial statements and the performance information, we 
comment on other information, and we explain our independence.
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Basis for our opinion

We carried out our audit in accordance with the Auditor-General’s Auditing Standards, which incorporate the 
Professional and Ethical Standards and the International Standards on Auditing (New Zealand) issued by the 
New Zealand Auditing and Assurance Standards Board. Our responsibilities under those standards are further 
described in the Responsibilities of the auditor section of our report.

We have fulfilled our responsibilities in accordance with the Auditor-General’s Auditing Standards. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for 
our audit opinion.

Responsibilities of the Board for the financial statements and the 
performance information

The Board is responsible on behalf of Te Taura Whiri for preparing financial statements and performance 
information that are fairly presented and comply with generally accepted accounting practice in New Zealand. 
The Board is responsible for such internal controls as it determines necessary to enable it to prepare financial 
statements and performance information that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the financial statements and the performance information, the Board is responsible on behalf 
of Te Taura Whiri for assessing the ability of Te Taura Whiri to continue as a going concern. The Board is also 
responsible for disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of 
accounting, unless there is an intention to merge or to terminate the activities of Te Taura Whiri, or there is no 
realistic alternative but to do so.

The Board’s responsibilities arise from the Crown Entities Act 2004 and the Public Finance Act 1989.

Responsibilities of the auditor for the audit of the financial statements and 
the performance information

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements and the performance 
information, as a whole, are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an 
auditor’s report that includes our opinion. 

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit carried out in accordance 
with the Auditor-General’s Auditing Standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. 
Misstatements are differences or omissions of amounts or disclosures, and can arise from fraud or error. 
Misstatements are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected 
to influence the decisions of readers, taken on the basis of these financial statements and the performance 
information.

For the budget information reported in the financial statements and the performance information, our 
procedures were limited to checking that the information agreed to the statement of performance expectations 
for Te Taura Whiri and relevant Estimates and Supplementary Estimates of Appropriations 2020–21.

We did not evaluate the security and controls over the electronic publication of the financial statements and the 
performance information. 

As part of an audit in accordance with the Auditor-General’s Auditing Standards, we exercise professional 
judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. Also:

 › We identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements and the performance 
information, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, 
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not 
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may 
involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.
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 › We obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that 
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of 
the internal control of Te Taura Whiri.

 › We evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 
estimates and related disclosures made by the Board.

 › We evaluate the appropriateness of the reported performance information within the framework used by 
Te Taura Whiri for reporting its performance.

 › We conclude on the appropriateness of the use of the going concern basis of accounting by the Board and, 
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions 
that may cast significant doubt on the ability of Te Taura Whiri to continue as a going concern. If we 
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the 
related disclosures in the financial statements and the performance information or, if such disclosures are 
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date 
of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause Te Taura Whiri to cease to continue as 
a going concern.

 › We evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements and the performance 
information, including the disclosures, and whether the financial statements and the performance 
information represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

We communicate with the Board regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and 
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit. 

Our responsibilities arise from the Public Audit Act 2001.

Other information

The Board is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information included on 
pages 2 to 11, 44 to 54 and 59, but does not include the financial statements and the performance information, 
and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the financial statements and the performance information does not cover the other information 
and we do not express any form of audit opinion or assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements and the performance information, our responsibility is to 
read the other information. In doing so, we consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with 
the financial statements and the performance information or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise 
appears to be materially misstated. If, based on our work, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of 
this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Independence

We are independent of Te Taura Whiri in accordance with the independence requirements of the Auditor-
General’s Auditing Standards, which incorporate the independence requirements of Professional and Ethical 
Standard 1: International Code of Ethics for Assurance Practitioners issued by the New Zealand Auditing and 
Assurance Standards Board.

Other than in our capacity as auditor, we have no relationship with, or interests, in Te Taura Whiri.

S B Lucy

Audit New Zealand

On behalf of the Auditor-General

Wellington, New Zealand 
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Statement of Responsibility
Te Tauākī Noho Haepapa

The Board is responsible for the preparation of the financial 
statements and statement of performance of Te Taura Whiri i te Reo 
Māori and the judgements made in them.

We are responsible for end-of-year performance information 
provided by Te Taura Whiri i te Reo Māori under Section 19A of the 
Public Finance Act 1989.

The Board of Te Taura Whiri i te Reo Māori has the responsibility for 
establishing and maintaining a system of internal control designed to 
provide reasonable assurance as to the integrity and reliability of the 
financial reporting.

In the Board’s opinion, these financial statements and statement of 
performance fairly reflect the financial position and operations of 
Te Taura Whiri i te Reo Māori for the year ended 30 June 2021.

Professor Rawinia Higgins

Toihau  
Board Chair 
Te Taura Whiri i te Reo Māori 
30 November 2021

Charisma Rangipunga

Toihau Tuarua  
Board Deputy Chair 
Te Taura Whiri i te Reo Māori 
30 November  2021
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The accompanying accounting policies and notes to the financial statements form an integral part of these financial statements. 
Explanations of major variances against budget are provided in note 16. 

2019-20 Actual

$

Note 2020-21 Actual

$

2020-21 Budget

$

REVENUE

Operating revenue from Crown

 7,664,000 Operating appropriation  8,810,000  8,810,000

 7,664,000 Total operating revenue from Crown  8,810,000  8,810,000

Other revenue

 113,198 Interest income  8,555  100,000

 307,544 Other revenue 2  50,244  260,000

 406,729 COVID-19 revenue - -

 827,471 Total other revenue  58,799  360,000

 8,491,471 Total revenue  8,868,799  9,170,000

EXPENDITURE

Operating expenses

 3,165,875 Personnel costs 3  3,509,550  4,374,163

 165,693 Depreciation and amortisation expense 7,8  199,248  266,841

 3,642,198 Operating expenses 4  4,617,018  6,658,623

 6,973,766 Total expenses  8,325,816  11,299,627

 1,517,706
Operating surplus/(deficit) and total 
comprehensive revenue and expense

 542,983 (2,129,627)

Statement of comprehensive revenue and expense
For the year ended 30 June 2021
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The accompanying accounting policies and notes to the financial statements form an integral part of these financial statements. 
Explanations of major variances against budget are provided in note 16. 

Statement of Financial Position
As at 30 June 2021

2019-20 Actual

$

Note 2020-21 Actual

$

2020-21 Budget

$

ASSETS

Current assets

 6,047,950 Cash and bank 5  7,018,149  3,878,894

 467,738 Receivables 6 - -

 33,942 GST receivables  150,414  50,000

 23,959 Prepayments  67,093  30,000

 6,573,589 Total current assets  7,235,656  3,958,894

Non-current assets

 335,556 Property, plant and equipment 7  626,820  334,497

 53,442 Intangible assets 8  15,505  104,595

 388,998 Total non-current assets  642,325  439,092

 6,962,587 Total assets  7,877,981  4,397,986

LIABILITIES

Current liabilities

 198,262 Payables 9  529,427  250,000

 233,499 Employee entitlements – current 10  276,014  226,000

 431,761 Total current liabilities  805,441  476,000

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES

 4,251 Employee entitlements - long term 10  2,982  5,000

 4,251 Total non-current liabilities  2,982  5,000

 436,012 Total liabilities  808,423  481,000

 6,526,575 Net assets  7,069,558  3,916,986

 6,526,575 Total equity  7,069,558  3,916,986
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Statement of Changes in Equity
For the year ended 30 June 2021

2019-20 Actual

$

Note 2020-21 Actual

$

2020-21 Budget

$

 5,008,870 General Funds  6,526,575  6,046,613

 5,008,870 Total Crown Equity at 1 July  6,526,575  6,046,613

 1,517,706 Surplus/(deficit) from Operations  542,983 (2,129,627)

 1,517,706 Total surplus/(deficit)  542,983 (2,129,627)

 6,526,575 Total Crown equity at 30 June  7,069,558  3,916,986

The accompanying accounting policies and notes to the financial statements form an integral part of these financial statements. 
Explanations of major variances against budget are provided in note 16. 

Annual Report  2020–2021Te Taura Whiri i te Reo Māori62



Cash flow statement
For the year ended 30 June 2021

2019-20 Actual

$

Note 2020-21 Actual

$

2020-21 Budget

$

CASH FLOWS FROM  
OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Cash was provided from (applied to)

 7,664,000 Receipts from Crown revenue  8,810,000  8,810,000

 113,198 Interest received  8,555  100,000

 251,276 Receipts from other revenue  517,982  260,000

(3,729,859) Payments to Suppliers (4,328,988) (6,594,616)

(3,235,968) Payments to Employees (3,468,305) (4,374,163)

 10,586 Payment of GST (116,472)  50,000

 1,073,235 Net cash flow from operating activities  1,422,772 (1,748,779)

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Cash was provided from (applied to)

(188,483) Purchase of property, plant and equipment (452,574) (340,000)

- Purchase of intangible assets - (150,000)

(188,483) Net cash flows from investing activities (452,574) (490,000)

 884,752
Net (decrease)/increase in cash 
and cash equivalents

 970,198 (2,238,779)

 5,163,198
Cash and cash equivalents at 
beginning of period

 6,047,950  6,117,673

 6,047,950 Cash and cash equivalents at end of period  7,018,149  3,878,894

 6,047,950 Represented by: Cash & cash equivalents 5  7,018,149  3,878,894

The accompanying accounting policies and notes to the financial statements form an integral part of these financial statements. 
Explanations of major variances against budget are provided in note 16. 
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Notes to the financial 
statements
1. Statement of accounting policies

1.1 Reporting entity 

Te Taura Whiri i te Reo Māori – the Māori Language 
Commission is a Crown entity as defined by the 
Crown Entities Act 2004 and is domiciled and 
operates in New Zealand. The relevant legislation 
governing the operation of Te Taura Whiri i te Reo 
Māori includes the Crown Entities Act 2004 and the 
Māori Language Act 2016. The ultimate parent of Te 
Taura Whiri i te Reo Māori is the New Zealand Crown.

Our primary objective is to provide services to the 
New Zealand public. We do not operate to make a 
financial return.

Te Taura Whiri i te Reo Māori has designated itself as 
a public benefit entity (PBE) for financial reporting 
purposes.

The financial statements for Te Taura Whiri i te Reo 
Māori are for the year ended 30 June 2021 and were 
approved by the Board on 30 November 2021.

1.2 Basis of preparation

The financial statements have been prepared on a 
going concern basis, and the accounting policies 
have been applied consistently throughout the year.

■ STATEMENT OF COMPLIANCE

The financial statements of Te Taura Whiri i te Reo 
Māori have been prepared in accordance with the 
requirements of the Crown Entities Act 2004, which 
includes the requirement to comply with generally 
accepted accounting practice in New Zealand (NZ 
GAAP).

The financial statements have been prepared in 
accordance with Tier 2 PBE accounting standards. 
We are eligible to apply Tier 2 accounting standards 
as our expenses are less than $30 million.

These financial statements comply with PBE 
Standards Reduced Disclosure Regime.

■ PRESENTATION CURRENCY AND ROUNDING

The financial statements are presented in 
New Zealand dollars.

1.3 Summary of significant 
accounting policies

■ REVENUE

The specific accounting policies for significant 
revenue items are explained below:

Funding from the Crown

Te Taura Whiri i te Reo Māori is primarily funded 
from the Crown. The recognition of non-exchange 
revenue from grants depends on whether the grant 
comes with any stipulations imposed on the use of a 
transferred asset.

Stipulations that are ‘conditions’ specifically require 
the grant recipient to return the inflow of resources 
received if they are not used in the way stipulated, 
resulting in the recognition of a liability that is 
subsequently recognised as non-exchange revenue 
as and when the ‘conditions’ are satisfied.

Stipulations that are ‘restrictions’ do not specifically 
require the grant recipient to return the inflow of 
resources received if they are not utilised in the 
way stipulated, and therefore do not result in the 
recognition of a non-exchange liability, which 
results in the immediate recognition of non-
exchange revenue.

The funding Te Taura Whiri i te Reo Māori receives 
is restricted in its use for the purpose of meeting 
the objectives specified in its founding legislation 
and the scope of the relevant appropriations of 
the funder.

Te Taura Whiri i te Reo Māori considers there are 
no conditions attached to the funding and it is 
recognised as revenue at the point of entitlement.

The fair value of revenue from the Crown has been 
determined to be equivalent to the amounts due in 
the funding arrangements.

Sponsorship revenue

Sponsorship revenue received relates to 
sponsorship for Māori Language Week and Māori 
Language Awards and is classed as non-exchange 
revenue.

Interest revenue

Interest revenue is recognised using the effective 
interest method.
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Provision of services

Services provided to third parties on commercial 
terms are exchange transactions. Revenue from 
these services is recognised in proportion to the 
stage of completion at balance date. 

■ LEASES

Operating leases

An operating lease is a lease that does not transfer 
substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to 
ownership of an asset to the leasee.

Lease payments under an operating lease are 
recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis 
over the lease term.

Lease incentives received are recognised in the 
surplus or deficit as a reduction of rental expense 
over the lease term.

■ CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash and cash equivalents includes cash on 
hand, deposits held on call with banks, and other 
short-term highly liquid investments with original 
maturities of three months or less.

■ RECEIVABLES

Short-term receivables are recorded at their face 
value, less any provision for impairment. A receivable 
is considered impaired when there is evidence 
that Te Taura Whiri i te Reo Māori will not be able 
to collect the amount due. The amount of the 
impairment is the difference between the carrying 
amount of the receivable and the present value of 
the amounts expected to be collected.

■ INVESTMENTS

Bank term deposits

Investments in bank term deposits are initially 
measured at the amount invested.

■ PROPERTY, PLANT, AND EQUIPMENT

Property, plant and equipment consists of the 
following asset classes: leasehold improvements, 
furniture and fittings, IT equipment and office 
equipment. 

All asset classes are measured at cost, less 
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses.

Additions

The cost of an item of property, plant, and 
equipment is recognised as an asset only when it is 
probable that future economic benefits or service 
potential associated with the item will flow to 
Te Taura Whiri i te Reo Māori and the cost of the item 
can be measured reliably.

Work in progress is recognised at cost less 
impairment and is not depreciated.

In most instances, an item of property, plant, and 
equipment is initially recognised at its cost.

Disposals

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by 
comparing the proceeds with the carrying amount 
of the asset. Gains and losses on disposals are 
reported net in the surplus or deficit.

Subsequent costs

Costs incurred subsequent to initial acquisition 
are capitalised only when it is probable that future 
economic benefits or service potential associated 
with the item will flow to Te Taura Whiri i te Reo Māori 
and the cost of the item can be measured reliably.

Depreciation

Depreciation is provided on a straight-line basis on 
all property, plant, and equipment other than land, 
at rates that will write-off the cost (or valuation) of 
the assets to their estimated residual values over 
their useful lives. The useful lives and associated 
depreciation rates of major classes of property, 
plant, and equipment have been estimated as 
follows:

 › Leasehold improvements 20.0% straight line (SL)

 › Furniture and fittings 20.0% SL

 › Office equipment 20.0% SL

 › IT Equipment 20.0% SL

Leasehold improvements are depreciated over 
the unexpired period of the lease or the estimated 
remaining useful lives of the improvements, 
whichever is the shorter.

The residual value and useful life of an asset is 
reviewed, and adjusted if applicable, at each 
financial year-end.

■ INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Software acquisition and development

Acquired computer software licenses are capitalised 
on the basis of the costs incurred to acquire and 
bring to use the specific software.

Costs that are directly associated with the 
development of software for internal use are 
recognised as an intangible asset. Direct costs 
include software development, employee costs and 
an appropriate portion of relevant overheads.

Staff training costs are recognised as an expense 
when incurred.
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Costs associated with maintaining computer 
software are recognised as an expense when 
incurred.

Costs associated with development and 
maintenance of our website are recognised as an 
expense when incurred.

Amortisation

The carrying value of an intangible asset with a 
finite life is amortised on a straight-line basis over 
its useful life. Amortisation begins when the asset is 
available for use and ceases at the date that the asset 
is derecognised. The amortisation charge for each 
financial year is recognised in the surplus or deficit.

The useful lives and associated amortisation rates 
of major classes of intangible assets have been 
estimated as follows:

 › Acquired computer software 25.0% SL

■ NON-CASH-GENERATING ASSETS

Te Taura Whiri i te Reo Māori does not hold any 
cash-generating assets. Assets are considered 
cash- generating where their primary objective is to 
generate a commercial return.

Impairment of property, plant, and equipment and 
intangible assets

Property, plant, and equipment and intangible assets 
held at cost that have a finite useful life are reviewed 
for impairment whenever events or changes in 
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may 
not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised 
for the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount 
exceeds its recoverable service amount. The 
recoverable service amount is the higher of an asset’s 
fair value less costs to sell and value in use.

Value in use is determined using an approach based 
on either a depreciated replacement cost approach, 
restoration cost approach, or a service units 
approach. The most appropriate approach used to 
measure value in use depends on the nature of the 
impairment and availability of information.

If an asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable 
service amount, the asset is regarded as impaired 
and the carrying amount is written-down to the 
recoverable amount. The total impairment loss is 
recognised in the surplus or deficit.

The reversal of an impairment loss is recognised in 
the surplus or deficit.

■ PAYABLES

Short-term payables are recorded at their face value.

■ EMPLOYEE ENTITLEMENTS

Short-term employee entitlements

Employee benefits that are due to be settled within 
twelve months after the end of the period in which 
the employee renders the related service are 
measured based on accrued entitlements at current 
rates of pay. These include salaries and wages 
accrued up to balance date, annual leave earned to 
but not yet taken at balance date. 

Long-term employee entitlements

Employee benefits that are due to be settled beyond 
twelve months after the end of the period in which 
the employee renders the related service, such 
as long service leave and retirement gratuities, 
have been calculated on an actuarial basis. The 
calculations are based on:

 › likely future entitlements accruing to staff, 
based on years of service, years to entitlement, 
the likelihood that staff will reach the point 
of entitlement, and contractual entitlement 
information; and the present value of the 
estimated future cash flows.

Presentation of employee entitlements

Annual leave, and vested long service leave are 
classified as a current liability. Non-vested long 
service leave and retirement gratuities expected to 
be settled within twelve months of balance date are 
classified as a current liability. All other employee 
entitlements are classified as a non-current liability.
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■ SUPERANNUATION SCHEMES

Defined contribution schemes

Obligations for contributions to KiwiSaver and 
the State Sector Retirement Savings Scheme 
are accounted for as defined contribution 
superannuation schemes and are recognised as an 
expense in the surplus or deficit as incurred.

■ EQUITY

Equity is composed of one general fund; this year 
it has a Capital contribution of the remainder of Mā 
te Reo Fund. Equity is measured as the difference 
between total assets and total liabilities. Equity 
is disaggregated and classified into the following 
components:

 › contributed capital

 › accumulated surplus/(deficit) and

 › fair value through other comprehensive revenue 
and expense reserves.

■ GOODS AND SERVICES TAX

All items in the financial statements are presented 
exclusive of GST, except for receivables and 
payables, which are presented on a GST-inclusive 
basis. Where GST is not recoverable as input tax, it is 
recognised as part of the related asset or expense.

The net amount of GST recoverable from, or payable 
to, the IRD is included as part of receivables or 
payables in the statement of financial position.

The net GST paid to, or received from, the IRD, 
including the GST relating to investing and financing 
activities, is classified as a net operating cash flow in 
the statement of cash flows.

Commitments and contingencies are disclosed 
exclusive of GST.

■ INCOME TAX

Te Taura Whiri i te Reo Māori is a public authority and 
consequently is exempt from the payment of income 
tax. Accordingly, no provision has been made for 
income tax.

■ BUDGET FIGURES

The budget figures have been prepared in 
accordance with NZ GAAP, using accounting 
policies that are consistent with those adopted by 
the Board in preparing these financial statements.

■ COST ALLOCATION

Te Taura Whiri i te Reo Māori have only one output 
class, but different outputs/objectives as stated in 
the Statement of Performance Expectations.

Revenue and Expenses for the year have been split 
across the main objectives/outputs as outlined in our 
Statement of Performance Expectation for 2020–21.

Direct costs are those costs directly attributed to 
an objectives/outputs. Indirect costs are those 
costs that cannot be identified in an economically 
feasible manner with a specific objectives/outputs. 
Direct costs are charged directly to objectives/
outputs. Indirect costs are charged to objectives 
based on cost drivers and related activity or usage 
information.

1.4 Critical accounting estimates and 
assumptions

In preparing these financial statements, Te Taura 
Whiri i te Reo Māori has made estimates and 
assumptions concerning the future.

These estimates and assumptions may differ from 
the subsequent actual results. Estimates and 
assumptions are continually evaluated and are 
based on historical experience and other factors, 
including expectations of future events that are 
believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.

The estimates and assumptions that have a 
significant risk of causing a material adjustment to 
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within 
the next financial year are discussed below.
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■ ESTIMATING USEFUL LIVES AND RESIDUAL 
VALUES OF PROPERTY, PLANT, AND EQUIPMENT

At each balance date, the useful lives and residual 
values of property, plant, and equipment are 
reviewed. Assessing the appropriateness of useful 
life and residual value estimates of property, plant, 
and equipment requires a number of factors to 
be considered such as the physical condition of 
the asset, expected period of use of the asset by 
Te Taura Whiri i te Reo Māori, and expected disposal 
proceeds from the future sale of the asset.

An incorrect estimate of the useful life or residual 
value will affect the depreciation expense 
recognised in the surplus or deficit, and carrying 
amount of the asset in the statement of financial 
position. Te Taura Whiri i te Reo Māori minimises the 
risk of this estimation uncertainty by:

 › physical inspection of assets;

 › asset replacement programmes;

 › review of second-hand market prices for similar 
assets; and

 › analysis of prior asset sales.

Te Taura Whiri i te Reo Māori has not made 
significant changes to past assumptions concerning 
useful lives and residual values.

1.5 Critical judgements in applying 
accounting policies

Management has exercised the following critical 
judgements in applying accounting policies:

■ LEASES CLASSIFICATION 

Determining whether a lease agreement is a finance 
lease or an operating lease requires judgement as to 
whether the agreement transfers substantially all the 
risks and rewards of ownership to Te Taura Whiri i te 
Reo Māori.

Judgement is required on various aspects that 
include, but are not limited to, the fair value of the 
leased asset, the economic life of the leased asset, 
whether or not to include renewal options in the 
lease term, and determining an appropriate discount 
rate to calculate the present value of the minimum 
lease payments. Classification as a finance lease 
means the asset is recognised in the statement of 
financial position as property, plant, and equipment, 
whereas for an operating lease no such asset is 
recognised.

Te Taura Whiri i te Reo Māori has exercised its 
judgement on the appropriate classification of 
equipment leases, and has determined that lease 
arrangements are operating leases.
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2. Other Revenue

2019-20 Actual

$

2020–21 Actual

$

 51,174 Other Revenue  50,244

 406,729 COVID-19 -

 247,500 Sponsorship Received -

 8,870 Sales – Other -

 714,273 Total other revenue  50,244

3. Personnel costs

2019-20 Actual

$

2020-21 Actual

$

 2,962,432 Salaries and Wages  3,158,771

 167,519 Other Employment expenses  194,802

 106,017 Defined contribution plan employer contributions  114,732

(70,093) Increase/(decrease) in employee entitlements  41,245

 3,165,875 Total personnel costs  3,509,550

Employer contributions to defined contributions plans include contributions to KiwiSaver and the State Sector 
Retirement Savings Scheme.
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4. Operating Expenses
2019-20 Actual

$

2020-21 Actual

$

 59,900 Fees to Audit New Zealand for audit of financial statements  61,100

 232,473 Travel  54,772

 120,183 Advertising  116,405

 7,458 Consulting  4,500

 1,275,510 Administration  2,002,273

 1,479,259 Contractors  1,925,414

 14,791 General Expenses  7,747

 47,305 Printing Costs  20,911

 405,318 Rent  423,896

 3,642,198 Total operating expenses  4,617,018

5. Cash and cash equivalents
2019-20 Actual

$

2020-21 Actual

$

 50,928 Cash at bank and on hand  114,225

 5,997,022 Cash equivalents – call account  6,903,924

 6,047,950 Total cash and cash equivalents  7,018,149

The carrying value of short-term deposits with maturity dates of three months of less approximates their fair value.
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6. Receivables
2019-20 Actual

$

2020-21 Actual

$

 467,738 Receivable (gross) -

 467,738 Total receivables -

Total receivables comprises

 467,738
Receivables from the sale of goods and services 
(exchange transactions)

-

Receivables from sponsorship 
(non-exchange transactions)

 467,738 Total receivables -

2019-20 Actual

$

2020-21 Actual

$

Debtors and other receivables

 467,738 Not past due -

- Past due 31-60 days -

- Past due 61-90 days -

- Past due > 91 days -

467,738 Balance at 30 June -

Te Taura Whiri i te Reo Māori is not exposed to any concentrations of credit risk.
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7. Property, Plant, and equipment

Movements for each class of property, plant and equipment are as follows:

Leasehold 
Improvements

$

Furniture and 
Fittings

$

IT Equipment

$

Office 
Equipment

$

Total

Cost of valuation

Balance at 1 July 2019  566,102  240,748  454,997  13,872  1,275,719 

Balance at 1 July 2020  736,045  242,908  471,377  13,872  1,464,202 

Additions  392,725  42,164  7,137  10,550  452,575 

Disposals - - - - -

Balance at 30 June 2021  1,128,770  285,071  478,514  24,422  1,916,776

Accumulated depreciation

Balance at 1 July 2019  479,435  216,234  331,368  12,029  1,039,066

Balance at 1 July 2020  522,268  225,487  368,445  12,447  1,128,645

Depreciation expense  108,427  13,721  36,635  2,527  161,310

Elimination on disposal - - - - -

Balance at 30 June 2021  630,695  239,208  405,080  14,974  1,289,955

Carrying amounts

At 1 July 2019  86,667  24,514  123,629  1,843  236,653

At 30 June and 1 July 2020  213,777  17,422  102,932  1,426  335,557

Balance at 30 June 2021  498,075  45,863  73,435  9,447  626,820

There are no restrictions on Te Taura Whiri i te Reo Māori property, plant and equipment, nor any property, plant, 
and equipment as security for liabilities. A review of property, plant, and equipment was undertaken in 2020–21 
and no impairments were found.
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8. Intangible assets and WIP

Acquired Software

$

Total

$

Cost of valuation

Balance at 1 July 2019  411,885  411,885

Balance at 1 July 2020  411,885  411,885

Additions - -

Disposals - -

Balance at 30 June 2021  411,885  411,885

Accumulated depreciation

Balance at 1 July 2019  282,329  282,329

Balance at 1 July 2020  358,442  358,442

Depreciation expense  37,937  37,937

Disposals

Balance at 30 June 2021  396,380  396,380

Carrying amounts

At 1 July 2019  129,556  129,556

At 30 June and 1 July 2020  53,443  53,443

Balance at 30 June 2021  15,505  15,505

There are no restrictions over title of Te Taura Whiri i te Reo Māori intangible assets, nor any intangible assets 
pledged as security for liabilities. A review of software was undertaken in 2020–21 and no impairments were found.

9. Payables

2019-20 Actual

$

2020-21 Actual

$

 170 Creditors  29,619

 198,092 Accrued expenses  499,808

 198,262 Total payables  529,427

Trade creditors and other payables are non-interest bearing and are normally settled on 30-day terms. 
The carrying value of creditors and other payables approximates their fair value.
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10. Employee entitlements

2019-20 Actual

$

2020-21 Actual

$

Current Portion

 78,497 Accrued salaries and wages  97,643

 155,003 Annual leave  178,371

 233,499 Total current portion  276,014

Non-current portion

 4,251 Long services leave  2,982

 4,251 Total non-current portion  2,982

 237,750 Total employee entitlement  278,996

11. Commitments

2019-20 Actual

$

2020-21 Actual

$

 6,490 Not later than one year  18,445

 6,228 Later than one year and not later than five years  45,542

 12,718 Total non-cancellable operating leases  63,987

 418,791 Not later than one year  418,872

 461,820 Later than one year and not later than five years  43,501

 880,611 Total non-cancellable accommodation lease commitments  462,373

The future aggregate minimum payments to be paid under non-cancellable – 1) operating leases and 2) 
accommodation lease commitments are as above:

A new accommodation lease was signed on 25 February 2016 for a term of six years. The lease start date was 
1 August 2016 when the Commission relocated to level 11. An additional lease was signed on 8 August 2019 for 
part of level 9.
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12. Related party transactions
2019-20 Actual

$

2020-21 Actual

$

Board Members

 78,300 Remuneration  83,925

 0.79 Full-time equivalent members  0.85

Leadership Team

 895,009 Remuneration  990,183

 4.58 Full-time equivalent personnel  4.82

 973,309 Total key management personnel remuneration  1,074,108

 5.37 Total full-time equivalent personnel  5.67

Te Taura Whiri i te Reo Māori is wholly owned by the Crown. 

Related party disclosures have not been made for transactions with related parties that within a normal 
supplier or client/recipient relationship on terms and conditions no more or less favourable than those that it 
is reasonable to expect that Te Taura Whiri i te Reo Māori would have adopted in dealing with the party at arm’s 
length in the same circumstances. 

Further, transactions with other government agencies and Crown Entities are not disclosed as related party 
transactions when they are consistent with the normal operating arrangements between government agencies 
and undertaken on the normal terms and conditions for such transactions.

No board members compensation or other benefits outside of their board fees in relation to consultation contracts.

13. Board member remuneration
2019-20 Actual

$

2020-21 Actual

$

 28,800 Dr Rawinia Higgins (Toihau)  28,800

 13,500 Charisma Rangipunga (Deputy Chair)  13,500

 13,500 Wayne Panapa  13,500

 5,625 Dr Jeremy Tātere MacLeod  13,500

- Bayden Barbar  13,500

 3,375 Charlie Tepana -

 13,500 Hinerangi Edwards  1,125

 78,300 Total Board member remuneration  83,925

Committee Members

 6,300 Darren Beatty  5,400

 84,600 Total Board and Committee member remuneration  89,325

There have been payments made to committee members appointed by the Board who are not Board 
members during the financial year. No Board members received compensation or other benefits in relation 
to cessation (2020–21: $nil). Te Taura Whiri i te Reo Māori has not taken out Directors’ and Officers’ Liability 
and Professional Indemnity insurance cover during the financial year in respect of the liability or costs of 
Board members and employees.

Te Taura Whiri i te Reo Māori Annual Report  2020–2021 75



14. Employee remuneration 

2019-20 Actual

$

Total Remuneration Paid or Payable

$’000

2020-21 Actual

$

- 100–109 -

 4 110–119  4

 3 120–129 -

 1 130–139 -

- 140–149 -

- 150–159  1

- 160–169 -

 1 170–179  1

- 180–189  1

 1 190–199 -

- 200–209 -

- 210–219 -

- 220–229  1

 1 230–239  1

 11 Total employees paid over $100,000  9

During the year ended 30 June 2021, 1 (2020, 3) employees received compensation and other benefits in 
relation to cessation totalling $63,750 ($41,293).

15. Financial instruments
2019-20 Actual

$

2020-21 Actual

$

Financial assets measured at amortised cost

 5,997,022 Cash and cash equivalents  6,903,924

 467,738 Receivables -

 6,464,761 Total financial assets measured at amortised cost  6,903,924

Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost

 198,262
Payables (excluding income in advance, taxes payable, and 
grants received subject to conditions)

 529,427

 198,262 Total financial liabilities measured at amortised cost  529,427
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16. Explanation of significant variance 
against budget

Explanations for significant variations from the 
organisation’s budgeted figures in the Statement of 
Performance Expectations are listed below.

Statement of comprehensive income

■ TOTAL REVENUE 

Total revenue was $0.301 million less than budget 
mainly due to choosing to run events on-line therefore 
not seeking sponsorship. This option was due to the 
COVID-19 environment.

■ TOTAL EXPENDITURE

Total expenditure was under budget by $2.974 million 
mainly due to lower operating costs than budgeted. 
There were delays in signing ICT and research contracts 
and some Maihi Karauna events being cancelled or held 
on-line which meant less funding being distributed.

Statement of financial position

■ CASH AND BANK

Cash and bank were more than budget by $3.139 million 
due to the lower than budgeted operating costs.

17. Contingencies

There are no contingent assets at reporting date 
(2019–20: $nil).

There are no contingent liabilities at reporting date 
(2019–20: $nil).    

18. Events after the balance date

There were no significant events after the balance date.

19. COVID-19

All Te Taura Whiri i te Reo Māori staff were able to work 
from home during the period of lockdown, so there 
were minimal disruptions to the normal day to day 
operations. Te Taura Whiri te Reo Māori is funded by 
the Crown so there were no adverse impacts on the 
revenue during the year. Expenditure was reduced due 
to Maihi Karauna events that were either cancelled or 
postponed due to COVID-19.
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Hei Whakapā Mai 
Directory

Street address Level 11, Kiwi Wealth House

20 Ballance Street

Wellington 6011

NEW ZEALAND

Postal address PO Box 411

Wellington 6140

NEW ZEALAND

Tel: +64 4 471 0244

Email info@tetaurawhiri.govt.nz

Internet address www.tetaurawhiri.govt.nz

Auditor Audit New Zealand

Wellington

NEW ZEALAND  
(On behalf of the Auditor-General)

Bankers ASB Business

Level 15, Corner Jervois Quay and 
Hunter Street

PO Box 11966

Wellington

NEW ZEALAND

Tel: +64 4 499 4915
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